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T
he Management Board hereby confirms 

that the Annual Report of Triglav Re, 

d.d. with all its integral parts is written in 

accordance with the Companies Act and 

the International Financial Reporting Standards. 

The Management is responsible for preparing 

the Annual Report so that it gives a true and fair 

view of the Company’s financial position and its 

operating results for the year ending 31 December 

2020.

The Management Board hereby confirms that 

the appropriate accounting policies have been 

consistently applied and that the accounting 

estimates have been prepared with due care and 

diligence. Furthermore, the Management Board 

affirms that the financial statements together with 

related notes have been prepared on the basis of the 

assumption on further operating activities of the 

Company and in accordance with the applicable 

law and International Accounting Standards.

The Management is also responsible for keeping 

proper and adequate accounting, for taking 

reasonable asset protection measures and the 

measures for prevention and detection of fraud and 

irregularities.

The tax authorities may at any time within five (5) 

years from the date on which the tax was charged, 

check the Company’s operations, which may result 

in additional tax liabilities, interest on arrears, 

penalties under corporation tax or other taxes and 

duties. The Management Board further states that 

they are not aware of any circumstances that may 

give rise to any potential material liability in this 

respect.

Ljubljana, 12 March 2021

Statement of 
management’s 
responsibilities  

 
Tohmatsu Limited (“DTTL”), its global network of member firms, and their related entities (collectively, the “Deloitte organization”). DTTL (also referred to as 

“Deloitte Global”) and each of its member firms and related entities are legally separate and 

and territories (collectively, the „Deloitte organization“) serves four out of five Fortune Global 500®companies. Learn how Deloitte’s approxi

In Slovenia the services are provided by Deloitte revizija d.o.o. and Deloitte svetovanje d.o.o. (jointly referred to as “Del Slovenia”) which are affiliates of Deloitte Central Europe Holdings Limited. Deloitte 

. (‘the Company’) for the year 

as adopted by the EU (hereinafter ‘IFRS’).

inancial statements and the auditor’s report thereon, therefore, is not a substitute for reading the audited 
financial statements and the auditor’s report thereon. The summary financial statements and the audited 
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Responsibilities of Management for the Summary Financial Statements   
 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the summary financial statements 
in accordance with IFRS.  
 
 
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Report on the Summary Financial Statements  
 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on whether the summary financial statements are consistent, in 
all material respects, with the audited financial statements based on our procedures, which were conducted 
in accordance with International Standard on Auditing (ISA) 810 (Revised), Engagements to Report on 
Summary Financial Statements. 

 
 
 
DELOITTE REVIZIJA d.o.o.    
    
Barbara Žibret Kralj 
Certified auditor  
 

For signature please refer to the 
original Slovenian version. 

 
Ljubljana, May 31, 2021 
 

TRANSLATION ONLY, SLOVENE ORIGINAL PREVAILS 
 

The dynamic landscapes of Slovenia, with their 
countless natural splendours, are ideal for a biking. The 
influence of the Mediterranean climate makes biking 
almost a year-round sport in Slovenia. We can head 
uphill for the mountain trails, explore the quaint towns, 
or take a ride among the wine-growing hills. The 
well-developed network of cycling routes will lead us 
through sites of natural and cultural significance, with 
the most sustainable trail being the Bike Slovenia Green 
cycling tour. It takes us from the picturesque peaks of 
the Julian Alps, across the rolling hills of Brda and the 
mysterious Karst all the way to the Adriatic Sea.

The Bike Slovenia Green is the world’s first 
bike tour to connect only destinations with a 
Green certificate of sustainability by developing 
sustainable tourism and committing to a green 
future. 

The exceptionally diverse and sustainability-oriented 
bike tour begins in Kranjska Gora and runs through 
the magical Radovna Valley and the wooded Pokljuka 
Plateau, before arriving at two Alpine gems – lakes Bled 
and Bohinj. A relaxing cycling path along the emerald 
Soča River follows the magnificent views of one of 
the most scenic European railways. The next stop is a 
land of hills overgrown with sunlit vineyards Goriška 
Brda. The route continues past the characteristic stone 
villages of the Karst region, then joins the well-
maintained cycling trail of Parenzana (which runs along 
a former railway and leads all the way to Trieste and 
Poreč) and descends slowly towards the Adriatic coast, 
finally ending in Koper.

The Bike Slovenia Green cycling tour has a very 
low carbon footprint. Travelling by bike is an 
environmentally friendly choice and where that is not 
possible, we can travel by train.

The tour is designed in a way that avoids single-use 
plastic. Since Slovenia prides itself on its high-quality 
drinking water supply, buying plastic bottles is strongly 
discouraged.

The Bike Slovenia Green tour places a priority on 
small family hotels, guest houses and restaurants.

Be a responsible traveller and explore Slovenia by bike!

Sources: 
www.slovenia.info
www.slovenia-outdoor.com
www.visit-goodplace.com/tours/bike-slovenia-green-
cycling-tour

SUSTAINABILITY 
from the 
mountains 
to the sea

Bike Slovenia Green TOUR

VINTGAR GORGE

BLED

BOHINJ

GORIZIA

lake jasna

KRANJSKA GORA

RADOVNA

TRIGLAV

POKLJUKA

KANAL

SOLKAN

KOMEN

LOKEV

KOPER

ADRIATIC SEA
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1. OPERATING 
PERFORMANCE AND 
EVENTS IN 2020

1.1. Financial highlights of Triglav Re, d.d. 

 in EUR

YEAR 2020 YEAR 2019 INDEX

Gross reinsurance premium written 180,967,469 157,582,324 115

Gross claims paid 76,015,279 73,805,192 103

Gross operating expenses* 3,821,466 3,654,639 105

Return on investment -973,358 3,782,089 -26

Technical provisions 195,766,154 173,388,974 113

Equity 87,042,128 83,135,427 105

Return on Equity 3.3% 6.0% /

Net profit 2,817,983 4,904,789 57

Number of employees at the year-end 52 52 100

*Gross operating expenses by functional groups

1.2. signiFicant events in 2020 

FEBRUARY • In February, the Company comple-
ted the final phase of the Renewal Project in the 
reinsurance IT System. The full use of the new 
system started on 24 February 2020, when the 
project team formally confirmed it. The financial 
year 2019 was concluded in the old IT system, 
but in February 2020, the Company started 
production in the new system.

MARCH • On 11 March 2020, the World Health 
Organization (WHO) declared the Covid-19 
outbreak a global pandemic as the novel coronavirus 
continued to spread rapidly worldwide, causing 
enormous damage to the global economy. Since 
then, the (re)insurance sector is also facing the 
impact of a regressing economy and the need to 
come up with the products to suit the demand with 
Covid-19 specific policies. Detailed information 
on the impact on the Company’s performance 
is presented in Section 3.2.2., Analysis of the 
Covid-19 Impact on the Company’s Performance.

In March 2020, the Supervisory Board of Triglav 
Re, d.d. extended the term of office of Tomaž 
Rotar, a member of the Management Board, for 
another next five-year period.

APRIL • A severe impact of the coronavirus 
pandemic showed a negative effect on the global 
economy. Therefore, on 22 April 2020 the 
Insurance Supervision Agency requested all (re)
insurance companies operating in Slovenia to 
recalculate the capital requirements and capital 
adequacy, taking into account the new crisis. 
At the same time, the Agency recommended a 
temporary suspension and postponement of the 
dividend payment for the financial year 2019.

SEPTEMBER • On 11 September 2020, the 
rating agency, Standard and Poor’s, reaffirmed the 
long-term credit rating and the financial strength 
rating “A” of the Triglav Group, and thus to the 
parent company Zavarovalnica Triglav, d.d. and 
its subsidiary Triglav Re, d.d.. Both credit ratings 
have a stable medium-term outlook.

OCTOBER • At a regular annual review on 19 
October 2020, the rating agency A.M. Best also 
reaffirmed the financial strength rating “A” and 
long-term credit rating assigned to an issuer “a” 
to the parent company Zavarovalnica Triglav, 
d.d. and its subsidiary Triglav Re, d.d. Both credit 
ratings have a stable medium-term outlook.

The Bike Slovenia Green cycling tour starts in the mountain 
resort of Kranjska Gora, situated at the foot of the Julian Alps.

1



Annual_Report_2020 

1312

Annual_Report_2020 

Dear Business Partners and 

Colleagues,

At Triglav Re, we can be satisfied with the achieved 

results in 2020 although they deviate significantly 

from the projected ones. In the uncertain 

circumstances of the Covid-19 pandemic, the 

premium growth of 15.00 percent was recorded and 

net profit of EUR 2.8 million was generated. The 

realized combined ratio of the Company amounts 

to 94.9 percent and is by 2.3 percentage points 

lower than the year before.

The year 2020 took us all by surprise with the 

Covid-19 pandemic. Our Company was faced 

with significant reinsurance claims resulting from 

loss of income, where physical damage to assets is 

not considered a condition for triggering business 

interruption insurance. According to the data 

collected so far, claims under that cover for the overall 

(re)insurance sector are estimated between EUR 

25.00 and 85.00 billion. The very large range in the 

aforementioned estimation results from a number of 

ambiguities in international law, in particular in the 

USA, Great Britain and South Africa. Some Courts 

established a series of important precedents but they 

are not yet final.

The WHO pandemic declaration abruptly brought 

a number of restrictive measures, which we had to 

face by taking immediate actions. Literally, in two 

days we set up the conditions for remote working 

for all employees and we continue with additional 

digitalization of our business processes. We have 

taken a number of measures to protect the health 

of both the employees and our partners, and we are 

pleased to say that to date we have not recorded 

a transmission of the virus on the Company’s 

premises. As in previous years, our employees with 

their dedication and hard work, determination and 

commitment proved their loyalty and efficiency also 

in the changed circumstances, for which I sincerely 

thank them. 

Taking into account the given situation, we 

immediately carried out an assessment of the impact 

of the pandemic on our operations for the period 

2020-2022 and executed our own risk and solvency 

assessment. It was confirmed that the Company has 

a strong capital position and a sufficiently resilient 

reinsurance and investment portfolio for the new 

volatile and aggravated circumstances. Nevertheless, 

in the second half of the year the Company’s stable 

fiscal position was again confirmed by the credit 

rating “A” with a stable medium-term outlook 

assessed by the rating agencies S&P Global Ratings 

and A.M. Best. 

In addition to the pandemic-related losses, Swiss Re 

estimates that the global insurance industry recorded 

the losses amounting to EUR 70.00 billion in 2020 

(natural disasters and man-made losses), thus making 

2020 the fifth worst year since in 1970. The high 

1.4.  Address by the President of the Management  
 Board 

amount of losses were caused by a record number of 

hurricanes in North America and floods in China. 

The floods in China,  at USD 17.00 billion, are the 

largest single catastrophic loss in 2020. Although 

the aforementioned losses did not have a significant 

impact on the Company’s result, the claims experience 

in our region was rather unfavourable. Two strong 

earthquakes in neighbouring Croatia have to be 

mentioned, since considerable material damage was 

caused. In the vicinity of Zagreb, in Petrinja, the 

December earthquake with a magnitude of 6.4, is 

considered to be even the strongest earthquake in 

the region since 1880. Both earthquakes proved that 

our risk management system is well managed and 

the loss amount was in line with the expectations 

calculated by our quantitative models.

The global economy continues to be impacted by 

uncertainty in the business and social environment 

created by the Covid-19 pandemic. However, 

considering slightly less restrictive health measures, 

the perceived effects of vaccination against the 

coronavirus, the extensive support for economic 

policies and a more encouraging international 

business environment, we are confident in our 

abilities to continue to support our partners and 

employees by adapting to the current situation. 

We are convinced that we can enter 2021 with 

high ambitions to strengthen the Company’s 

competitiveness and visibility in the international 

market, and remain a safe and responsive business 

partner. Last but not least, we are proud of our 

achievements and confident about our future.  

Gregor Stražar (MBA)



With its green and unspoiled nature, Kranjska Gora and 
its surroundings offer plenty of opportunities for an active 
holiday in all seasons. One of the most interesting spots 
around Kranjska Gora is Lake Jasna.

2
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1. Introduction 

In 2020, the Supervisory Board continuously 
monitored and supervised the operations of Triglav 
Re, d.d. (hereinafter “the Company”). It regularly 
examined the reports on the various aspects of the 
Company’s operations, and in this respect, adopted 
the appropriate decisions and monitored their 
implementation. 

The Supervisory Board performed its duties within 
the scope of its powers and competences prescribed 
by the statutory provisions, the Company’s Articles 
of Association and the Rules of Procedure of the 
Supervisory Board. It was acting in accordance 
with the Guidelines of the corporate governance of 
Zavarovalnica Triglav d.d., as the parent company 
of the Triglav Group.

Pursuant to the provision of Article 282 of the 
Companies Act, the Supervisory Board verified 
the Company’s Annual Report for 2020 and in this 
view, it presented this Report on the Verification 
of the Annual Report of Triglav Re, d.d. The 
Supervisory Board also reviewed and adopted the 
Company’s Annual Report on the internal audit.

2. General 
information 

In 2020, the Supervisory Board was made up of 
the following members: 

•	 the	shareholder’s	representatives:

	 •	 Andrej	Slapar	(President),	
	 •	 Tomaž	Žust,
	 •	 Janko	Šemrov	

•	 the	employees’	representative:

	 •	 Sebastjan	Debevc.	

In 2020, the Supervisory Board held seven 
meetings. The Audit Committee was formed 
within the Supervisory Board. 

3. Operations of 
the Supervisory 
Board and scope 
of veriFication 
of the Company’s 
governance in 2020

The Supervisory Board’s duties that shall comprise 
in particular those relating to the monitoring and 
verification of the Company’s operations, were 
carried out in accordance with its competences. 
The Supervisory Board’s responsibility is to 
supervise the Company’s business operations 
and to perform all other duties in line with the 
Companies Act, the Insurance Act, the Articles 
of Association and the Rules of Procedure of the 
Supervisory Board. 

With regard to its core competences, the 
Supervisory Board in 2020:
•	 reviewed	the	Business	Plan	of	Triglav	Re,	d.d.	

for 2021; 
•	 adopted	the	audited	Annual	Report	of	Triglav	

Re, d.d. for 2019 and was briefed on the 
Independent Auditor’s Report;

•	 adopted	the	Report	of	the	Supervisory	Board	
of Triglav Re, d.d. on the verification of the 
Annual Report of Triglav Re, d.d. for 2019;

•	 submitted	a	proposal	on	the	distribution	
of the net profit and on the dismissal of 
the Company’s Management Board for the 
financial year 2019;

•	 was	briefed	on	the	Management	Report	of	
Triglav Re, d.d. for the period from 1 January  
2019 to 31 December 2019 and also on the 
quarterly Business Reports for 2020;

•	 gave	its	consent	to	the	Solvency	and	Financial	
Condition Report (SFCR) for 2019 and 
was briefed on the Independent Auditor’s 
Opinion;

•	 was	briefed	on	the	Auditor’s	Report	on	the	
relations with the related companies and on 
the Auditor’s Opinion on the Report on the 
relations with the related companies as at 31 
December 2019;

•	 was	briefed	on	the	Internal	Auditor’s	Report	
as at 31 December 2019;

•	 was	briefed	on	the	regular	quarterly	reports	on	
the Company’s risk profile and gave consent 
to the Risk Appetite Statement for 2020;

•	 was	briefed	on	the	Own	Risk	and	Solvency	
Assessment Report of Triglav Re, d.d. for the 
year 2020;

•	 was	briefed	on	the	Annual	Report	on	the	
internal audit in 2019 and monitored the half-
yearly reports on the internal auditing;

•	 gave	its	opinion	to	the	Annual	Report	on	the	
internal auditing for the year 2019;

•	 gave	its	consent	to	the	key	activities	and	
amendments to the activities relating to the 
Company’s governance.

3.1.  Audit Committee
 
The members of the Audit Committee in 
2020	 were:	 Tomaž	 Žust	 (President),	 Sebastjan	
Debevc,	 Janko	 Šemrov	 and	 Mojca	 Lahajner	
as an independent external expert. The Audit 
Committee held five meetings in 2020. 

The duties and competences of the Audit 
Committee are specified in the Companies Act, 
the Rules of Procedure of the Supervisory Board, 
the Rules of Procedure of the Audit Committee 
and the decisions adopted by the Supervisory 
Board. Among others, the Audit Committee: 
•	 monitored	the	financial	reporting	

procedures;

•	 monitored	the	functioning	and	efficiency	

of the Company’s internal controls, 

internal audit and risk management 

systems;

•	 monitored	the	statutory	audits	of	

the annual and consolidated financial 

statements;

•	 monitored	and	reviewed	the	auditor’s	

independence in relation to the 

Company’s Annual Report, in particular 

within the scope of the non-auditing 

control and other consulting services;

•	 proposed	to	the	Supervisory	Board	

the appointment of the auditor for the 

Company’s Annual Report;

•	 monitored	the	integrity	of	financial	

information provided by the Company;

•	 assessed	the	preparation	of	the	Annual	

Report, including a formation of the 

proposal for the Supervisory Board;

•	 participated	in	determining	the	most	

important operational areas of auditing;

•	 reported	on	its	activities	at	the	

Supervisory Board meetings.

The Audit Committee conducted a self-assessment 
of its performed tasks in order to ensure the 
continuous improvement and quality of its 
performance. 

2. Report of the 
Supervisory board
Report of the Supervisory Board on the VeriFIcation of the 

Annual Report of  Triglav Re, d.d. for 2020
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3.2. Performance of Self-

 Assessment

The Supervisory Board has established the Audit 
Committee in accordance with the Companies 
Act. The President of the Audit Committee has 
regularly reported on the performed activities 
at the Supervisory Board meetings, where the 
adopted decisions, the submitted recommendations 
and opinions were discussed. Based on the diligent 
assessment, the Supervisory Board adopted the 
relevant decisions.

All the members are actively involved in the 
Supervisory Board’s performance and contribute 
to the effective execution of the Board’s procedures 
under its responsibility. The Supervisory Board’s 
Rules of Procedure contains the rules regulating 
the procedures in case of a potential conflict 
of interest. Within the scope of its duties, the 
Supervisory Board also adopted the Rules on 
managing conflicts of interest relating to the 
Supervisory Board and its members. 

The Supervisory Board is of the opinion that 
the cooperation with the Management Board 
was appropriate and in line with the applicable 
legislation and best practice and that it was 
informed on all relevant events for the assessment 
of a Company’s business and its consequences, 
and also for the supervision of the Company’s 
performance. The Supervisory Board regularly 
monitored the implementation of its own decisions 
and the decisions of the Audit Committee. In 
2020, the Supervisory Board also performed a self-
assessment of its activities. 

The Supervisory Board is of the opinion that its 
composition in 2020 was proportionate to the 
Company’s size, its business operations and the 
set objectives, as well as to the independence or 
dependence of its members with respect to the 
Corporate Governance Code. 

Based on the above, the Supervisory Board is of the 
opinion that its performance and the performance 
of the Audit Committee in 2020 were carried out 
in an effective and efficient manner.

4. Annual Report of 
Triglav Re d.d. 

The Supervisory Board verified all the legal aspects 
relating to the Company’s annual report for the 
year 2020.

The Supervisory Board confirmed that the Annual 
Report for 2020 was prepared in line with the 
legally prescribed period. Taking into account 
the assurance of the Management Board, of the 
appointed external auditor (audit firm Deloitte 
revizija, d.o.o.) and the actuary Milan Stjepanović 
(MSc), the Supervisory Board confirmed that the 
Annual Report covers all the parts prescribed by 
the Companies Act, the Insurance Act and the 
applicable regulations.

The Annual Report includes:
•		 Accounting	 report:	 the	 financial	 statements	

which contain the balance sheet, the income 
statement, the statement of changes in equity, 
the cash flow statement, and the notes to the 
financial statements,

•		 Management	report.

The following reports are submitted to the Annual 
report:
•		 Independent	Auditor’s	Report,
•		 Authorized	Actuary’s	Report	as	at	31	December	

2020.

The Annual Report contains all the parts prescribed 
by law. 

The Company established the insurance technical 
provisions and other provisions from the profit. 
The authorized actuary and the external auditor 
confirmed the regularity and sufficiency of the 
insurance technical provisions.

The external auditor for the financial years 2019, 
2020 and 2021, the audit firm Deloitte revizija 
d.o.o., performed the audit of: the balance sheet as 
at 31 December 2020, the income statement, the 
statement of changes in equity and the cash flow 
statement for the year just ended and the summary 

of the significant accounting policies and other 
explanatory notes. Based on the audit results, the 
Independent Auditor’s Report was published on 
12 March 2021.

In accordance with the requirements of the 
Insurance Act, the actuary Milan Stjepanović 
(MSc) verified the Company’s operations in 2020 
and on 10 March 2021, the Actuary’s Report for 
2020 was presented. 

In accordance with the provisions of the 
Companies Act, the Management Board submitted 
the Annual Report, including the Auditor’s Report 
and the Actuary’s Report as at 31 December 2020 
to the Supervisory Board to verify it.

5.  Proposal for 
Distribution of Net 
ProFit recorded as 
at 31 December 2020

From a formal point of view and in line with the 
statutory duties, the Supervisory Board verified the 
Management Board’s proposal for the distribution 
of the profit recorded as at 31 December 2020. 

The Supervisory Board agrees with the Management 
Board’s proposal on distribution of the net profit 
and will therefore submit to the general meeting of 
shareholders the proposal to adopt the decision on 
the distribution of profit as at 31 December 2020.

6.  Opinion on the 
Annual report 
submitted by the 
Internal Audit 

At the meeting on 11 March 2020, the Supervisory 
Board reviewed and then approved the annual 
report on the internal audit for 2020 prepared 
by internal audit and based on the the operations 
performed in 2020. The Supervisory Board is of 

the opinion that the Company’s internal auditor 
performed his duties in accordance with the 
annual plan for the year 2020, and thus significantly 
contributed to the upgraded functioning of the 
internal control system and to a more appropriate 
risk management system of Triglav Re, d.d. 

7.  Reporting of the 
Management Board

The Supervisory Board is of the opinion that the 
reports provided by the Management Board enabled 
the appropriate monitoring of the Company’s 
governance and performance. The cooperation 
with the Management Board is considered to be 
adequate and in line with the applicable legislation.

8.  Independent 
Auditor’s Report 
and Auditor’s 
Opinion on 
the Report on 
Relations with 
Related companies 
as at 31 December 
2020

In compliance with its competences under law 
and the Articles of Association, the Supervisory 
Board reviewed the Independent Auditor’s Report, 
by which the independent auditor confirms that 
the Company’s financial statements for 2020 in 
all respects present a true and fair picture of the 
financial position of Triglav Re, d.d. and that they 
are prepared in accordance with the International 
Financial Reporting Standards.

The Supervisory Board reviewed the Report on the 
relations with related companies and the Statement 
prepared by the Company’s Management Board. 
The Supervisory Board made no comments 
on the Statement of the Management Board. 
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Furthermore, the Supervisory Board was briefed 
on the Report on the relations with the related 
companies as at 31 December 2020, in which the 
auditor confirms that the facts provided in the 
Report on the relations with related companies are 
true and correct in all respects.

9.  Actuarial Report as 
at 31 December 2020

In compliance with the competences under 
the legislation and the Company’s Articles of 
Association, the Supervisory Board noted the 
Actuary’s Report in which he confirmed that 
the level of premium written in 2020 and the 
insurance technical provisions as at 31 December 
2020 are appropriate and that, based on reasonable 
actuarial expectations, they ensure the Company’s 
continuous fulfillment of all liabilities arising 
from reinsurance contracts. Furthermore, he 
confirmed that the risk assumption policy is in 
accordance with the Company’s strategy and that 
the Company met the regulatory requirements 
on the capital adequacy. The actuary explained his 
opinion on the Company’s performance in 2020 
in a written report which was submitted to the 
Supervisory Board. 

10. Comments of the 
Supervisory Board 
on the Annual 
Report for 2020

The Supervisory Board has no comments on the 
Annual Report for 2020, which could prevent the 
adoption of the decision to approve the Annual 
Report of Triglav Re, d.d.

11.  Approval of the 
Annual Report for 
2020

The Supervisory Board approved the Annual 
Report for the year 2019 within the prescribed 
period, that is, before the expiry of one month 
from the submission of the Annual Report 2020 to 
the Supervisory Board.

Ljubljana, 25 March 2021

Andrej Slapar 

President of the Supervisory Board 
of Triglav Re, d.d.

3. General 
information on 
Triglav Re d.d.

From Kranjska Gora a pleasantly quiet cycling road leads to 
another Alpine village of Mojstrana, where it enters one of 
the most charming alpine valleys in Slovenia, the Radovna 
River Valley. The Valley is well-known for its pristine 
nature and the striking 1.6 kilometre-long Vintgar Gorge. 
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3.1.  Company proFIle 

Company Name: Pozavarovalnica Triglav Re, d.d.

Short name: Triglav Re, d.d.

Legal form: Company limited by shares

Registered office: Miklošičeva 19, 1000 Ljubljana, Slovenia

Website: www.triglavre.si

E-mail address: mail@triglavre.si

Company identification 
number: 13 62 992

Tax number: 16465423

Entry into the Companies 
Register: District Court in Ljubljana, Entry No. 1/31/403/00 on 31 December 1998

Share capital: EUR 4,950,000.00

President of the Management 
Board: Gregor Stražar, M.Sc. (Econ)

President of the Supervisory 
Board: Andrej Slapar

Activity according to the 
Standard Classification of 
Activities:

K65.200 - Reinsurance

Credit rating: Standard & Poor's: A  /  A.M. Best: A 

Ownership structure: Zavarovalnica Triglav d.d. (100 %). 
Triglav Re is an integral part of the Triglav Group.

3.2. Overview of 
the Company’s 
Development

3.2.1. Development of 

Triglav Re, d.d. 

Triglav Re, d.d. was established in 1998 and has 
been successfully operating in domestic and non-
domestic markets for the past 22 years. In the first 
year of its operations, the Company exclusively 
reinsured the portfolio of Zavarovalnica Triglav, 
d.d. and achieved a positive operating result. The 
Company thus fulfilled the founders’ expectations 
and had a significant impact on risk equalization 
and risk management in the Slovenian market. 
In 2000, the Company started operating in the 
international market for the first time. 

Thanks to a prudent and conservative policy of 
risk assumption, an effective risk management 
system and recapitalisation in 2001, the Company 
has become a reliable partner in the European 
reinsurance market, particularly in Central Europe. 

The year 2008 marked a turning point for the 
Company’s future performance, since the Standard 
& Poor’s Rating Services (S&P) assigned it an “A 
-” rating which had a direct impact on the growth 
of business with Cedants outside the Triglav 
Group. In 2009, the rating was upgraded to “A” 
with stable outlook, which was retained until 2012 
despite the tense market conditions. In 2012, S&P 
downgraded the credit rating to “A -” because of 
the drop in the credit rating of the Republic of 
Slovenia. In February 2013, S&P downgraded the 
Company’s long-term credit rating “A -” by one 
notch to “BBB +” and removed the warning about 
a possible downgrade. However, only five months 
later in July 2013, S&P upgraded the Company’s 
rating by one notch to “A -” with a stable medium-
term outlook. In 2013, Triglav Re, d.d. was also 
assessed by the rating agency A. M. Best and the 
Company obtained the credit rating “A -” with a 

stable medium-term outlook. In 2014 and 2015, 
both rating agencies reaffirmed the rating of “A -” 
with a stable medium-term outlook. At the regular 
annual reviews in 2016, both credit rating agencies, 
S&P and A.M. Best, upgraded the Company’s 
financial strength rating of “A -” to “A”. In 2017, 
both agencies confirmed the Company’s financial 
strength rating of “A” from 2016. In the following 
three years, 2017, 2018 and 2019, the Company 
retained the same ratings with a stable outlook.

In 2020, both credit rating agencies again confirmed 
the Company’s rating of financial strength “A”. 
Besides fulfilling the requirement as a reinsurance 
provider for the whole Triglav Group, in 2020 the 
Company concluded 733 reinsurance contracts 
with 314 Cedants from more than 80 countries 
outside the Group.

3.2.2. Analysis of the 

Covid-19 Impact 

on the Company’s 

Performance 

and Anticipated 

Development in 2021

Analysis of the Covid-19 Impact on 

the Company’s Operations

According to Swiss Re reinsurance experts, the 
insurance sector will be able to absorb all the 
negative effects of the pandemic. However, the 
amount of payments associated with the Covid-19 
pandemic remains uncertain. According to data 
published on the Reinsurance News portal at 
the end of December 2020, the loss to the entire 
(re)insurance sector is estimated between USD 
30.00 billion and USD 80.00 billion. The table 
below shows the data in billions of US dollars, as 
estimated by the largest (re)insurance companies at 
the end of 2020.

3. General 
information on 
Triglav Re d.d.

Bled, photo: Aleš Krivec, source: www.vecer.com
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In the report released in May 2020, S&P expects 
worse results in the (re)insurance industry in 2020 
than in 2019 due to the Covid-19-related claims 
(cancellation of events such as the Olympics, 
tennis tournaments), financial market volatility 
and lower return on investment.  The estimated 
combined ratio in the industry is expected to be 
between 101% and 105%. Under the challenging 
conditions, the outlook for the entire (re)insurance 
industry was revised from stable to negative.

The Company responded rapidly and effectively 
to the threats of new pandemic circumstances.  
It adapted its operations to the government 
and other pandemic containment measures. It 
continuously monitored the epidemiological 
situation in Slovenia, the recommendations of 
the NIPH (National Institute of Public Health) 
and the measures taken by the parent company. 
The Company operated in compliance with the 
rigorous measures to contain and prevent the spread 
of pandemic. The conferences and meetings with 
the reinsurance partners were conducted through 
digital electronic communication, which was of 
fundamental importance for successful renewal 
operations for 2021. From October 2020 onwards, 
the majority of employees have been working 
from home, which successfully prevented the 
transmission of Covid-19 among the employees.

The largest impact on the Company’s performance 
in 2020 is represented by the claims arising from 
loss of income due to business interruption. In 
some countries, such cover is sold as part of non-life 
insurance, but the information is still incomplete 
and the eligibility of such cover in some insurance 
markets is disputable, in particular in the UK and 
South Africa. In the fourth quarter of 2020 and 
January 2021, there were important precedent 
judgments in the aforementioned countries, where 
the Court granted compensation to the Insureds 
who had bought business interruption cover. Due 
to those judgements, insurance companies had to 
increase their claims provisions to be protected 
against unexpected but possible claims. Based on 
the received loss notifications and after reviewing 
the entire portfolio, our Company estimated that 
the losses arising from the business interruption 
cover due to the Covid-19 pandemic in 2020 
amounted to slightly more than EUR 8.00 million 
gross, which is also included in the financial 
statements.

Within the regular autumn ORSA procedure, the 
Company identified the key stress scenarios, which 
include the effects of the Covid-19 pandemic 
and evaluated their hypothetical impact on the 
Company’s future capital adequacy. Based on the 
analysis, it is estimated that the Company has a 
sufficient amount of available capital to cover 
capital requirements.

Table 1: Loss estimates related to Covid-19 pandemic

Company Covid-19 loss & reserves ($m) Last updated

Munich Re 4,102.8 12/1/20

Lloyd's 3,905.0 9/10/20

Swiss Re 3,000.0 10/30/20

Axa 1,755.0 11/3/20

Allianz 1,540.0 11/6/20

Source: www.reinsurancene.ws/covid-19-insurer-reinsurer-loss-reports/

Anticipated Development of 

Triglav Re, d.d. in 2021

The Company is well prepared and targeted to 
respond to the growing risks and uncertain situation 
in the global market. The outbreak of Covid-19 has 
notably led to increased insecurity in the domestic 
and international economic environment, and is 
predicted to cause an economic recession, create 
challenging conditions and increase the level of 
competition within the (re)insurance industry. 
One of the Company’s key objectives for 2021 is 
to maintain the credit rating “A”, as this enables 
the Company to continue its operations in the 
international reinsurance markets that require an 
appropriate credit rating as a precondition for 
cooperation, either because of the requirements of 
the local regulator or due to the adopted internal 
rules of the Cedants.

In accordance with the Company’s business plan for 
2021 and strategic guidelines for the period 2019-
2022, Triglav Re, d.d. will continue, as a provider 
of comprehensive reinsurance service, to focus on 
reinsurance operations with new partners outside 
the Triglav Group. Since the founding of Triglav 
Re, d.d. in 1998, we are recognized as a reliable and 
professional business partner, responsive to new 
challenges and to the needs of the socio-economic 
situation. As in previous years, the Company’s 
growth is based on a prudent underwriting policy 
that ensures a stable and profit-generating portfolio.

3.3. Mission, vision, 
values and 
renewed strategy 
until 2022

In cooperation with the Triglav Group companies, 
Triglav Re, d.d. has prepared a renewed strategy for 
the period until 2022. Many highly qualified and 
devoted employees participate in the Company’s 
development activities to create a modern, digital 
and dynamic insurance-financial group, with the 

key goal of strengthening its leading position in the 
Slovenian market and the wider region.

The mission statement of the Triglav Group 
companies is set up in the Renewed Strategy and 
reads as follows: 

We are building a safer future.

The companies and employees of the Triglav 
Group are firmly linked to the following values:

• Responsiveness

 We respond promptly and effectively.

• Simplicity

 We are clear and transparent.

• Reliability

 We turn our commitments into concrete 
actions and measures.

Our perception of values relating to reinsurance 
activities is simplicity, comprehensiveness, trans-
parency, high quality and flexibility. We treat our 
partners individually and systematically, while 
ensuring the appropriate cost and risk management 
system. These are the key guidelines of our business 
model, whilst simultaneously incorporating the 
principles of social responsibility (economic, legal, 
ethical) and of sustainable development (balance of 
human, natural and created assets for a long-term 
development).

Reinsurance business represents one of the many 
segments in the Triglav Group Strategy. The 
following strategic guidelines are identified as the 
most important:
1. Efficient reinsurance programmes as a tool in 

risk management and capital adequacy in the 
Triglav Group.

2. Geographical diversification of the Triglav 
Group’s portfolio.

3. Development and retention of key employees.
4. Achieving risk-adjusted operating profitability.
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3.3.1. Company’s Policies, 

Activities and Measures 

to achieve the set 

Goals for 2021

Within the renovation of the reinsurance IT 
system, the plan defines the upgrade of the 
reinsurance system for processing the surplus 
(share) contracts of Triglav Group companies. 
We intend to start activities at the beginning of 
2021. The Company is also preparing for the 
introduction of new accounting standard IFRS 17 
and in the first half of the year, we will continue 
with data analysis and activities in the field of data 
preparation automation.

When conducting reinsurance business, the 
Company’s main objectives remain the same as 
in previous years, aiming at maintaining adequate 
reinsurance protection for the Triglav Group and 

profitable operations with partners outside the 
Group. 

In 2021, the adjustments of business processes and 
powers related to the implementation of the new 
reinsurance IT program are planned for human 
resources area.

3.4. Information on 
Triglav Group

 
Pozavarovalnica Triglav Re, d.d. is a subsidiary of 
Zavarovalnica Triglav, d.d., Ljubljana, Miklošičeva 
19.

The table below shows the subsidiaries and associates 
in the Triglav Group as at 31 December 2020. 

Triglav Re, d.d. does not have any subsidiaries.

Table 2: Organisation chart of Triglav Group as at 31 December 2020

3.5. Shareholders’ 
equity and 
shareholders of 
Triglav Re, d.d.

As at 31 December 2020, the shareholders’ equity 
of Triglav Re, d.d. amounted to EUR 84,042,128. 
The share capital of EUR 4,950,000 is divided 
into 15,000 ordinary no-par value registered 
shares. Each share amounting to EUR 330.00 has 
an equal portion and corresponding amount in the 
share capital. 

3.6.  Credit rating of 
Triglav Re, d.d.

On 11 September 2020, the credit rating agency 
Standard & Poor’s reaffirmed the long-term credit 
rating and financial strength rating of “A” of the 
Triglav Group,  and thereby to the controlling 
company Zavarovalnica Triglav d.d. and its 
subsidiary Triglav Re, d.d. Both ratings have a 
stable medium-term outlook.

At a regular annual review on 19 October 2020, 
the credit rating agency A.M. Best also confirmed 
the financial strength rating “A” and the credit 
rating of the issuer “a” to Zavarovalnica Triglav, 
d.d. and Triglav Re, d.d. Both ratings have a stable 
medium-term outlook.

Table 3: Shareholders of Triglav Re, d.d. as at 31 December 2020

OWNERSHIP STRUCTURE (in %) NUMBER OF SHARES

Zavarovalnica Triglav, d.d. 100.00 15,000

TOTAL 100.00 15,000
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Reaching the beautiful Bled, it would be a pity not to visit the tiny island in the middle of the lake.
Bled is a proud recipient of the Slovenia Green Gold destination certificate and a member of the 
Alpine Pearls group, whose objective is to promote sustainable mobility. 

4



Annual_Report_2020 

3130

Annual_Report_2020 

4.1. Governance 
Policy

The Governance System and Policy of Triglav Re 
d.d., adopted by the Management and Supervisory 
Boards, determine the main objectives of 
sustainable and responsible governance, taking into 
consideration the guidelines for the Company’s 
management, such as long-term strategic objectives 
and values. They represent a foundation for setting 
up and implementing a reliable governance system 
based on efficient risk management and enable 
the implementation of the Company’s business 
strategy.

4.2. Statement of 
compliance with 
the corporate 
governance 
code of the 
companies with 
the state capital 
investment and 
commitment to 
the other codes

Triglav Re, d.d. is a subsidiary of the controlling 
company Zavarovalnica Triglav, d.d, which is a 
company with state capital, and thus Triglav Re, 
d.d. in its day-to-day operations shall respect the 
Corporate Governance Code for State-Owned 
Enterprises (hereinafter: the Code). The Code is 
publicly available in Slovene and English on the 
Slovenian Sovereign Holding website (www.sdh.si).

Triglav Re, d.d. derogates from the Code in the 
following provisions:

•	 Composition	of	the	Supervisory	Board

The Company derogates from the Code with 
regard to the ownership structure, the size of 
the company, the number of Supervisory Board 
members and its position in the Group and 
therefore, it is not able to provide an international, 
age and gender diversity in the Supervisory Board 
composition. 

•	 The	Supervisory	Board	shall	prepare	

a required profile for the Supervisory 

Board members in view of the optimal 

size and composition of the Supervisory 

Board and shall be publicly available on 

the	Company’s	website:	www.triglavre.si.

In this party, the Company partially derogates 
from the Code, as a profile for the members of the 
Supervisory Board is not published on the website. 
Zavarovalnica Triglav d.d. as a sole shareholder 
of Triglav Re, d.d. defines the procedures for 
appointing the members of the Supervisory Board 
in the Corporate Governance Policy of the Triglav 
Group. The procedure for selecting candidates for 
the members of supervisory bodies and the criteria 
of qualification and suitability of the supervisory 
bodies members are defined by the supervisory 
body of a subsidiary in accordance with the internal 
activities of the subsidiary. They shall be harmonized 
with the Policy on the ability and suitability 
assessment of the members of the management and 
supervisory bodies within the Triglav Group, the 
Policy of diversity of the controlling company and 
also with the recommendations for good practice.

•	 The	Supervisory	Board	shall	consist	of	

independent members.

In this part, the Company partially derogates from 
the Code, because the Supervisory Board members 
are either members of the management bodies 
or employees of the parent company in order to 
achieve a better and more efficient management of 
Triglav Re, d.d. The employees’ representative has 
a contract of employment with the Company.

•	 The	Company	shall	disclose	the	earnings	

of the members of the Supervisory 

Board who are the employees’ 

representatives. 

In this part, the Company partially derogates 
from the Code, since, in accordance with the 
GDPR, it does not disclose the earnings under the 
employment relationship of the member who is an 
employee representative in the Supervisory Board. 

In its policies and procedures, the Company is 
also regulated by the Insurance Code, which is 
available on the website of the Slovenian Insurance 
Association: www.zav-zdruzenje.si. 

Moreover, the Company is required to follow the 
provisions set out in the Triglav Group Code, which 

is available on the website http://www.triglav.
eu. The Triglav Group Code presents the core 
values   and operating policies for legal and ethical 
performance requirements to achieve the objectives, 
strategic orientation and competitive advantages, 
while respecting the principles and standards of fair 
and transparent performance of business operations.

In order to ensure effective and durable performance 
and maintain the highest ethical and quality 
standards, on 25 April 2015 the Management Board 
of Triglav Re, d.d. adopted the Code of Good 
Business Practices. This Code shall not apply only to 
the Company’s employees and business partners but 
also to the shareholders, individuals and groups of 
persons, organizations, institutions, corporations and 
government bodies.

4.2.1. Policy of Diversity

The Company has not yet adopted the Policy of 
Diversity.

Ljubljana, 12 March 2021

4. MANAGEMENT 
DECLARATION



The road continues uphill towards the Pokljuka Plateau which rests at an altitude of 1300 meters. The 
highlight of this Pokljuka tour is the Zajamniki mountain pasture in the central area of Pokljuka, known 
for its beautiful cottages and a perfect view over Lake Bohinj.
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5.1. Economic 
environment1 

The Covid-19 pandemic has caused a profound 
health, social and economic crisis, despite extensive 
economic policy measures. The ways and success 
of tackling the epidemic are increasingly shaping 
the economic activity of countries. According to 
the latest OECD forecast, world GDP is expected 
to fall by at least 4.2 percent by the end of 2020, 
much more than during the 2008-2009 financial 
crisis.

The availability of a vaccine against Covid-19 
lifted the mood in the real estate sector and on 
the financial markets. However, the differences 
between countries are becoming more and more 
noticeable. The reintroduction of severe restrictive 
measures has not yet affected economic activity 
in the United States, as GDP in the euro area is 
estimated at 7.5 percent or 7.3 percent in the last 
quarter of last year, according to the ECB in the 
OECD, and in 2021, it is expected to increase by 3.6 
percent or 3.9 percent. While there are differences 
between Member States in the length and severity 
of pandemic replacement measures, it is expected 
that all countries will be in recession this year.

The PMI indicates an expansion in economic 
activity in China, India, Brazil, the USA and, to a 
lesser extent, even the UK. In the latter two cases, 
this is despite the introduction of more stringent 
containment measures on account of the renewed 
spread of the epidemic. It is a different case in the 

majority of continental Europe, where a profound 
recession has again taken hold in services as the 
epidemiological picture worsens.

The domestic epidemiological situation in the 
final quarter was among the worst in the euro 
area, and required the long-lasting tightening of 
containment measures, which triggered a sharp 
decline in economic activity. With stringent 
containment measures, turnover in trade and 
some service activities, particularly those related 
to private consumption, also dropped significantly 
in Slovenia at the beginning of the last quarter of 
2020. As during the first wave of the epidemic, the 
most affected sector was accommodation and food 
service activities, where the employment rate also 
dropped significantly.

The second wave of the epidemic did not lead 
to any downturn in international trade, with the 
exception of tourism. Merchandise exports in 
October were down only 2.6 percent year-on-
year, as sales in euro area markets almost recovered 
and exports to Asia increased strongly. At the same 
time, manufacturing firms remained relatively 
optimistic at the end of last year in their short-
term export expectations. Imports too were yet 
to respond to the new wave of the epidemic by 
November. Imports of consumer goods in October 
were actually up year-on-year, while the decline 
in imports of capital goods was insignificant 
compared to the previous year.

The crisis caused by the epidemic led to 
deflation last year, driven largely by the external 

1 Source: Central Bank of Slovenia, The economic and financial developments, January 2021; Summary of macroeconomic developments, 
January 2021; UMAR, Economic mirror, No. 1/2021; OECD Economic Outlook, Volume 2020, Issue 2; IMF World Economic Outlook 
Update, January 2021.

environment, although domestic inflation factors 
were also getting continually weaker. Year-on-year 
inflation as measured by the HICP averaged -0.3 
percent last year, down 2 percentage points on 
the previous year. Energy prices were responsible 
for 1.4 percentage points of the decline, driven 
primarily by falling global oil prices. There was 
also a significant overall decline in import prices. 
Inflation in the euro area averaged 0.3 percent 
over the year. Similar to the first wave, deflation 
in Slovenia increased at the end of the year as 
the containment measures were retightened, and 
the weakness of domestic price pressures became 
increasingly evident. December saw deflation of 
1.2 percent, while core inflation stood at just 0.1 
percent.

The extensive anti-crisis measures have significantly 
worsened the fiscal position, although debt levels 
remained lower than in the euro area overall. 
Consolidation will be very gradual. The general 
government deficit over the first nine months 
of 2019 stood at 7.7 percent of GDP, primarily 
on account of the shock in the second quarter. 
The decline in revenues was driven by corporate 

income tax and taxes on consumption, as the 
epidemic had a profound impact on corporate 
performance and on private consumption. The 
impact of the epidemic was even more evident 
in the 12.9 percent rise in expenditure, where the 
main factor was the measures on the labour market. 

Following the improvement in the third quarter 
of 2020, the deficit of the consolidated general 
government budgetary accounts on a cash basis 
increased again towards the end of the year. In the 
first 11 months of 2020, it amounted to EUR 2.6 
billion. Due to the deterioration in epidemiological 
and, consequently, economic conditions, revenue 
again fell below the previous year’s level in October 
and November. As in the third quarter, expenditure 
growth remained well below that of the second 
quarter, when the majority of expenditures related 
to the Covid-19 measures were paid.

With the retention of labour market intervention 
measures and the expected smaller contraction of 
economic activity than during the first wave of the 
epidemic, the number of registered unemployed 
people increased slightly in December, mostly 

Table 4: Forecast of economic development

Real GDP Growth 2019
2020 2021 2022

Sep 2020 Dec 2020 Sep 2020 Dec 2020 Dec 2020

EU 1.5 -0.7 -7.1 5.2 3.6 3.3

Euro Area 1.3 -7.4 -7.5 5.6 3.7 3.3

Slovenia 3.2 -6.7 -6.6 5.1 4.3 4.4

Germany 0.6 -5.8 -5.5 4.5 3.0 3.3

Italy 0.3 -8.6 -9.1 5.7 4.3 3.2

Austria 1.4 -5.8 -0.8 4.4 2.5 2.3

France 1.5 -8.8 -9.1 7.1 5.8 3.3

Croatia 2.9 -9.7 -9.4 6.2 5.0 3.7

Russia 1.3 -6.6 -4.3 4.1 2.8 2.2

Source: UMAR (IMAD, Institute of macroeconomic analysis and development of the Republic of Slovenia); Autumn forecast of 
economic developments, September 2020; Winter forecast of economic developments, December 2020

5. GENERAL ECONOMIC 
ENVIRONMENT IN 2020
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because of seasonal factors.  At the end of December, 
87,283 people were unemployed, which is 3.7 
percent more than at the end of November.

In the winter forecast, which takes into account the 
international institutions’ latest forecasts for Slovenia’s 
trading partners, it is assumed that, with the gradual 
easing of containment measures, economic activity 
could start recovering next year but will not return 
to pre-epidemic levels until 2022.

The depth of this year’s decline and the speed 
of the recovery in 2021 and 2022 will vary 
significantly across EU countries, reflecting not 
only the severity of the epidemic and the strictness 
of containment measures, but also differences in 
economic structures and domestic policy responses. 
The rapid introduction and widespread use of 
an effective vaccine or rapid progress in medical 
treatments would, however, significantly enhance 
the possibilities for higher economic growth in 
2021.

Despite the expected fall in GDP in 2020, the 
premium of the Slovenian insurance market 
strengthened (by 2.1 percent). Given the current 
situation, we do not expect a major impact from 
the Covid-19 pandemic on the Company’s 
premium volume. However, it should be noted that 
the global reinsurance market has seen a significant 
increase in premium rates in areas affected by 
catastrophic loss events in 2020 (USA, China).

The potential risks associated with the occurrence 
of natural disasters and the volatility of the capital 
market as a result of Covid-19 will continue to be 
present in the coming year and may have the effect 
of shrinking the reinsurance market. For the time 
being, however, the capacity of the reinsurance 
market remains high, which could have a positive 
impact on the future development of the Company.

5.2. Capital markets2 

The rise in share prices on the domestic market in 
the final quarter of 2020 was slightly less than in 
the euro area overall. Shares in Slovenian companies 
included in the SBITOP rose by 6.4 percent, 
compared with the rise of 12.7 percent of euro 
area firms. The reasons behind the slightly weaker 
performance of domestic shares are the longer 
lockdowns in the second wave, the more stringent 
rules for obtaining support for companies hit by the 
pandemic, the lower liquidity of the capital market, 
and the different dynamics in profit forecasts for 
domestic companies compared to the average of 
firms across the euro area.

The profit forecasts of companies included in the 
SBITOP and companies included in a slightly 
narrower euro area index, show that after suffering 
a smaller decline in 2020 Slovenian companies 
are expected to see a more pronounced decline 
in profits in 2021, and slightly higher growth in 
2022. The profit forecasts of Slovenian companies 
are therefore slightly more volatile, which brings 
additional uncertainty in the valuation of domestic 
companies relative to the euro area average.

Non-financial corporations, households and banks 
entered last year’s crisis in good financial shape, but 
the financial accounts reveal significant changes in 
their behaviour over the first three quarters of 2020. 
The largest reversal as a result of the introduction 
of the emergency measures and the corresponding 
additional borrowing at the outbreak of the 
Covid-19 epidemic came from the government 
sector. At the outbreak of the epidemic, non-
financial corporations further strengthened their 
saving relative to their investment, although they 
had already been more cautious in their behaviour 
on account of the increasing uncertainty in 
the international environment before that. The 
household sector, which still has the most prominent 

2 Source: Bank of Slovenia, Economic and financial developments, January 2021.
3 Source: Swiss Re: Economic Insights, 2020 Annual Compendium; Sigma no. 4/2020, World Insurance: Riding out the 2020 Pandemic 
Storm, June 2020; Munich RE, 2020 Natural Disaster Balance, January 2021; Willis Re Reinsurance Market Report September 
2020: Results of half year; S&P Global Reinsurance Highlights 2020; OECD Global Insurance Market Trends 2020; AON Benfield, 
Reinsurance Market Outlook, September 2020.

saving-investment gap, is now saving at an even 
greater rate. The excess saving by households and 
non-financial corporations primarily flowed in the 
form of deposits to banks, who in turn continued 
to deposit the money with the Central Bank. 
The year-on-year increase in the banks’ financial 
assets and liabilities last year underwent its most 
pronounced surge of the last ten years.

5.3. Insurance market3 

According to data published by Aon Benfield’s 
2018 Global Reinsurance Sector, the reinsurance 
companies show a positive insurance technical 
result (approximately 1.0 percent of the premium).

The combined ratio of reinsurance companies 
improved by 7.4 percentage points to 99.2 percent 
compared to 2018. The greatest contributor to 
the improved ratio was a lower amount of paid 
compensations for the catastrophic events (7.1 
percentage points) and a favourable development 
of the previous underwriting years which means a 
release of claims provisions (3.5 percentage points).

After a favourable loss frequency in the first quarter 
of 2019 (paid losses due to natural catastrophes 
were 47.0 percent lower than the average of the last 
15 years), the intense loss frequency in the second 
half of the year occurred in Asia (Typhoons Faxai 
and Hagibis in Japan) and in North and Central 
America (Hurricane Dorian, which is the strongest 
known tropical system to impact the Bahamas)

In total, according to data published by Munich 
Re, 820 natural disasters were recorded in 2019, 
and at least 9,000 people were killed in the affected 
areas. The total damage due to natural catastrophes 
amounts to USD 150 billion and over a third of 
incurred losses were insured which amounts to 
USD 52.0 billion. The insured part of damage is 
much lower than in 2018 when it amounted to 
USD 80.0 billion. It is important to note that the 
criteria for recording natural catastrophes differs 
considerably between the leading reinsurance 
companies and reinsurance brokers.

According to the latest data provided by Swiss Re 
in March 2020, a global economic downturn can be 
expected in 2020 due to the new coronavirus. For 
now, no data is available showing the adjustments 
of the planned global life and non-life insurance 
premium growth. However, it is expected that 
the corrected forecasts for 2020 and 2021 will be 
much lower than planned over the past years, when 
the average growth was about 3 percent annually.

Despite the forecasts by the Swiss Re experts who 
have already lowered the China’s economic growth 
by more than 2 percentage points for 2020, it is 
expected that the main drivers of premium growth 
in both life and non-life re/insurance premiums 
will continue to be in the developing markets, in 
particular Asian countries. It is also projected that 
China could have the highest premium growth 
in 2020 in the emerging countries. The economy 
in this country could recover as early as in 2021, 
when a 5.5% growth is currently estimated. The 
sectors promising a higher premium growth are 
in particular the health and pension insurance, 
agricultural insurance and cyber risk insurance. 
There is a great deal of uncertainty about the 
adjusted projections for a premium growth in 
developed economies due to the coronavirus and 
it depend on various factors such as the extent 
and duration of the pandemic and on the fiscal 
measures taken by the countries affected.

North and South America still have the largest 
share in the global insurance market in 2018, but 
this share is however declining. According to the 
available data provided by Swiss Re, Europe, Africa 
and the Middle East collected approximately 33.7 
percent of the total insurance premium in 2018, 
which is, taking into account the inflation, by 
3.5 percentage point higher than the year before. 
The Asia-Pacific region has further strengthened 
its position in the global insurance market and its 
share increased by 4.7 percentage points to 32.4 
percent. In the world insurance rankings for 2018, 
the Slovenian insurance market was ranked 55th 
and it covers the same share of 0.05 percent as in 
2017. In 2018, Slovenia ranked 29th in terms of 
a premium per capita which means three places 
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higher than the year before, and 30th in terms of 
insurance penetration, i.e. share of a premium in 
GDP (same as in 2018).

5.4. Insurance market 
in Slovenia 

In 2020, thirteen (13) insurance companies 
and four (4) foreign branches operated in 
the Slovenian insurance market. Among the 
traditional insurance companies, there were nine 
(9) composite companies, seven (7) specialized 
companies (e.g. life, health, pension or non-
life insurance) and one insurance company of 
Craftsmen and Entrepreneurs acting as a mutual 
entity. The overall insurance premium written in 

2020 in the Slovenian market amounted to EUR 
2,569 billion, which is slightly more than in the 
previous year (index 102.5). In the total premium 
volume, the non-life premium represents a share 
of 70.8 percent and the life insurance premium 
of 29.2 percent, which shows that the non-life 
insurance premium volume increased (index 
108.6) compared to the previous year while the 
life insurance premium remained approximately at 
the same level as in 2019. These figures also include 
the insurance operations performed directly by the 
insurance companies from the other EU Member 
States. According to the report provided by the 
Slovenian Insurance Association, their share in 
2020 amounted to 2.7 percent.

The four largest insurance companies (Triglav, 
Sava, Generali and Mutual Insurance Company) 

Market shares of insurance companies operating in Slovenia in 2020

Zavarovalnica Triglav d.d. 

25.4%

Market shares of reinsurance companies operating in Slovenia in 2020

Triglav Re d.d.

48.6%

controlled 72.8 percent of the total Slovenian 
insurance market (in 2019: 68.8 percent). In 2020, 
Zavarovalnica Triglav, d.d. maintained its leading 
position with a market share of 25.4 percent. The 
insurance companies with majority foreign capital 
(Merkur, Grawe, Wiener Städtische Group, Allianz, 
Arag, Coface, Croatia Osiguranje, Generali) 
collected a total premium volume of EUR 600.0 
million and their market share increased from 11.2 
percent in 2019 to 23.3 percent in 2020. 

In 2020, some significant changes took place in 
the Slovenian insurance market. In January 2020, 
the acquisition of Adriatic Slovenica was officially 
completed, and its portfolio was transferred to 
Generali insurance company. On 1 October 
2020, the Slovenian branch of ERGO insurance 
company ceased its operations and the portfolio 

was taken over by the parent company ERGO 
Austria.

The position of Triglav Re, d.d. can be compared 
with its competitor, the reinsurance company 
Sava Re, but this is of limited importance given 
the fact that the Slovenian insurance market is 
open to foreign reinsurance companies and that 
both reinsurance companies operate also outside 
their Groups. Both reinsurance companies show a 
significant premium growth in 2020, Sava Re of 
15.1 percent and Triglav Re of 14.8 percent.

Over the last few years, the market share of Triglav 
Re, d.d. has varied between 46.0 percent and 49.0 
percent. As at 31 December 2020, it amounted to 
48.6 percent and remained at the same level as in 
2019.
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An effective risk management system is an 
essential part of the business operations of each (re)
insurance company. The aim of a comprehensive 
and independent risk management system is to 
ensure the implementation of the strategic and 
business objectives of the Company.

The Company’s risk management system is 
transparent, structured and documented, and is 
implemented in its day-to-day business operations. 
It represents part of the Triglav Group risk 
management system.

In 2020, the Company identified the key risks that 
have had significant impact on its performance:
•	 macroeconomic	risks,	which	have	been	greatly	

intensified by the Covid-19 epidemic and are 
reflected in the increased credit risk,

•	 increase	 in	 claims	 resulting	 from	 business	
interruption caused by the Covid-19 epidemic,

•	 natural	 disaster	 risk	 due	 to	 extreme	 weather	
events over recent years,

•	 continuation	 of	 record	 low	 interest	 rates	 that	
prevent high return on investment,

•	 remote	 working	 which	 involves	 a	 substantial	
amount of operational risk (e.g. cyber risks).

2020 was an extraordinary year marked by 
exceptional events, from the Covid-19 pandemic and 
natural disasters to vulnerable economic and social 
situation. The Company has continued to implement 
its strategies for a prudent risk management policy: 
upgrading the risk measurement methodologies, 
methodologies for efficient risks mitigation and new 
reporting standards intended for decision-making 
bodies. Its main activities were focused on assessing 
the diverse hypothetical effects of pandemics and 
natural disasters on the Company’s capital adequacy. 
Despite the challenging economic conditions, high 

volatility in the financial markets and numerous 
natural disasters in 2020, the Company maintained 
its capital adequacy. The Company’s priorities 
in 2020 were to upgrade the risk management 
system and the regular implementation of various 
simulations to assess their impact on the Company’s 
capital adequacy.

The Company has met all regulatory requirements 
by providing a comprehensive and regular 
monitoring of capital adequacy using the standard 
Solvency II formula, including the performance of 
its own risk and solvency assessment, sound and 
reliable risk management systems, regular reporting 
to the supervisory bodies and public disclosure of 
information.

6.1. Risk management 
system

A risk management system is one way by which 
the Company monitors and controls a reasonable 
and responsible exposure to the diversified risks 
according to the Company’s interest and ability to 
assume a risk. In order to ensure safe and sound 
operating performance, the Company shall establish 
an effective and comprehensive risk management 
system, thereby enabling better business decisions.
The Company’s key principles of risk assumption 
and risk management are:
•	 assumption	of	risks	within	the	Company’s	

capacities and its capital strength,
•	 business	operation	in	compliance	with	the	

valid legislation and regulations,
•	 timely	payments	of	all	outstanding	liabilities,
•	 participation	of	the	management	and	super-

visory bodies in the risk management process,

6. RISK MANAGEMENT

Using mostly asphalt and some forest roads, the track 
slowly descends towards Bohinj and eventually reaches 
Lake Bohinj, the largest natural lake in Slovenia. The 
ride from the Pokljuka Plateau towards Lake Bohinj is 
mostly downhill, with an 820 metre elevation loss.

6
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•	 appropriate	organizational	structure	with	clearly	
defined competences and responsibilities,

•	 ensuring	the	appropriate	risk	management	
system,

•	 business	activities	in	line	with	the	risk	
management guidelines of the Triglav Group.

The essential documents of the Company’s risk 
management system are the Risk Management 
Strategy (hereinafter: Strategy) and the Risk 
Appetite Statement (hereinafter: Risk Appetite) 
which represent a base for the internal activities 
concerning the policy, the methodologies and 
instructions for risk management.

The Strategy determines the competences and 
responsibilities of the risk management process, the 
system and the main principles of risk management 
and the Company’s incentive to assume a particular 
risk. The Risk Appetite quantitatively defines the 
exposure level to which the Company is able and 
willing to expose itself to individual risk groups, 
taking into account its capital strength and strategic 
objectives. 

Risk management is a governance system, which 
ensures that the Company’s risk profile is within 
the limits set in the Risk Appetite. The risk 
management system is based on the Three Lines of 
Defence model.

•	 The	 first	 line	 of	 defence consists of the 
business functions, which actively manage concrete 
business risks through their business decisions and 
are primarily responsible for risk identification and 
underwriting, the effective internal controls and 
the performance of the business operations within 
the prescribed limits, policies and strategic goals.

•	 The	 second	 line	 of	 defence consists of 
the following key business functions: the risk 
management function, the actuarial function, the 
compliance function and the Risk Management 
Committee. The role of the second line is to 
implement an effective risk management system, 
which includes a coordination of activities related 
to risk management, preparation of methodologies 

for risk identification, risk measurement and 
assessment, the exposure limit system, controlling 
and monitoring the exposure to a risk and verifying 
compliance with the applicable regulations. 

•	The	 third	 line	 of	 defence within the risk 
management system is represented by internal 
audit, which is independent from all other 
organizational units in the Company. Its main goal 
is to provide independent opinions on the form 
and functioning of the risk management system 
and to assess the adequacy and effectiveness of 
the internal controls. The role of internal audit is 
thus to verify the performance of the first and the 
second line of defence.

The Management and Supervisory Boards are not 
directly part of any of the three lines of defence, 
even though they play an essential role in the 
risk management system. Both Boards shall be 
informed of all three lines of defence and are 
responsible for their functioning within the risk 
management system.

Within the second and third line of defence there 
are four key functions that shall be independent 
and clearly separated so that none of them can 
be jeopardized in their ability to perform tasks 
in an objective, fair and independent manner. 
They have unlimited access to all the information 
they may require to carry out their duties. They 
cooperate with each other and share the necessary 
information.

The risk management function is responsible 
for supporting the management and supervisory 
authorities and other business functions in 
order to carry out efficient management of 
the Company, thus ensuring appropriate risk 
identification, measurement, monitoring and risk 
reporting. Besides the legislation, the strategies 
of risk management used in the Triglav Group 
are taken into consideration.  The main tasks 
are to participate in important risk management 
decisions, coordinate and control activities in 
the risk management system (capital adequacy 
measurement, implementation of ORSA), monitor 

the Company’s overall risk exposure and notify the 
management and supervisory authorities on the 
exposure to significant risks.

The compliance function is an essential part of 
the Company’s control system, which carries out 
the following tasks:
•	 evaluation	of	the	possible	impact	of	legislative	

changes on the Company’s business 
performance and notifying the Company’s 
management as well as other departments, 
services and functions,

•	 identification	and	assessment	of	the	
Company’s non-compliance with valid 
legislation and internal rules,

•	 regular	briefing	to	the	Management	and	
Supervisory Boards on the compliance of 
operations, including a possible risk related to 
non-compliance of operations and providing 
guidelines and recommendations,

•	 participation	in	the	preparation	and	updating	
of the compliance programs in certain 
Company’s departments, including the 
internal controls,

•	 execution	of	targeted	reviews	of	the	
compliance of operations.

The internal audit function shall carry out 
permanent and coherent supervision of the 
Company’s operations in order to increase the 
Company’s efficiency by using independent, 
systematic and methodical assessment of the 
Company’s governance system, risk management, 
control system and providing recommendations 
needed to improve their performance. Furthermore, 
it provides consultancy services, cooperates with 
external auditors and other supervisory bodies and 
monitors the implementation of recommendations 
given by external auditors. At least twice a year, 
the Management Board, the Audit Committee and 
the Supervisory Board are briefed on the activities 
and findings of the internal audits. The internal 
auditors shall be independent and competent in 
their work and shall avoid conflicts of interest. 
They are therefore not allowed to perform any 
development or operational tasks that could result 
in a conflict of interests or are likely to affect their 

impartiality. They are also not allowed to decide on 
any tasks related to internal audits.

The most important part of the actuarial function 
is related to the calculation of the insurance technical 
provisions, which includes:
•	 the	use	of	the	appropriate	methods	and	

assumptions for the calculation of the 
insurance technical provisions,

•	 assessing	the	appropriateness,	the	adequacy	
and the quality of data for calculation of the 
insurance technical provisions,

•	 the	verification	of	the	Company’s	general	
policy relating to the risk assumption and 
reinsurance programs,

•	 preparing	the	position	on	the	sufficiency	of	
the insurance technical provisions to cover all 
contractual liabilities.

The actuarial function is closely connected with 
the risk management function because it controls 
and ensures the efficient management of insurance 
and credit risks, including the solvency calculation 
and the own risk and solvency assessment (ORSA).

The Supervisory Board gives approval to the 
key rules relating to the risk management system. 
The Supervisory Board shall be regularly briefed 
on the reports on the Company’s risk exposure, its 
capital adequacy and on the ORSA and shall give 
approval to the report on the Company’s solvency 
and financial condition. The Supervisory Board has 
appointed the Audit Committee as a working body 
for professional advice in deciding on the adequacy of 
the risk management system. The Audit Committee 
shall monitor the suitability and effectiveness of the 
established risk management system and control the 
Company’s overall risk portfolio.

The principal responsibility of the Management 

Board is to achieve the optimum profitability 
of the business operation with due regard to the 
applicable Risk Appetite. It is responsible for the 
establishment and implementation of an efficient 
and reliable management system, which includes 
an appropriate process of assuming and managing 
risks, in accordance with legislation. It shall be 
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regularly briefed on the Company’s risk profile; 
it approves the internal activities and reports, 
including those on risk exposures, ORSA, on 
capital adequacy and the company’s solvency and 
financial position report.

The Management Board has appointed the Risk 

Management Committee as a professional 
consultative body, to which it transferred part of 
its responsibilities relating to risk management. The 
Committee shall assist the Management Board in 
monitoring the risk profile, supervision of the risk 
management system, preliminary evaluation of the 
internal activities relating to risk management, 
confirmation of risk measurement methodologies, 
identification and monitoring of the exposure 
to significant risks and concentration of risks, 
preparation of the Risk Appetite proposal, regular 
evaluation of the efficiency of the risk management 
system, monitoring the system to ensure the data 
quality needed for the calculation of the insurance 
technical provisions and ensuring the on-going 
monitoring of the appropriateness of the risk 
management system.

6.2. Process of Risk 
Management

The effective risk management consists of the 
following parts:

Risk identification is the process of identifying 
and understanding all existing and potential risks 
to which the Company can be exposed. It is an on-
going process, the primary responsibility for which 
is held by the business functions that constitute the 
first line of defence in the management system. The 
process is also carried out as part of the preparation 
of the business and financial plan. It is discussed 
at the regular meetings of the Risk Management 
Committee and at operational risk workshops.

For this purpose, the Company has set up a Risk 
Catalogue, which contains a description of the types 
of risks, possible risk factors and the established 
internal controls for risk limitations. The Risk 

Management Service provides professional support 
for each individual business line with a view to 
identify the risks and key stress scenarios to which 
the Company is most vulnerable.

Risk measurement and assessment is carried 
out through the determining and monitoring of 
risk measures, which are generally accepted in the 
insurance industry and financial institutions. The 
basic purpose of the risk measurement system is to 
monitor the risk profile of the Company according 
to the levels defined in the Risk Appetite, to detect 
important changes in a timely manner, and to 
prepare notices and proposals for measures to be 
taken on this basis.

Management of risk identification is carried out 
by means of:
•	 the	reinsurance	contracts	which	protect	the	

Company’s performance against potential  
insurance risks (retrocession),

•	 the	limits	set	up	for	an	individual	risk	(e.g.	
the investment limits, limited exposure to the 
counterparties, the limits relating to interest 
and currency consistency, etc.)

•	 the	protection	against	risks	by	means	of	
derivatives, which the Company uses only 
for the purpose of protection against risks. 
In 2020, the Company did not use any 
derivatives. 

Risk control and early notification of cases of 
deviation and/or violation shall be carried out 
regularly and according to the overall risk profile of 
the Company, as well as the frequency and type of 
changes in the business environment. Risk control 
is carried out by the Company’s risk management 
service. In cases where violations are detected, the 
Company set up a monitoring programme for 
notification, deciding and tracking the measures 
taken to diminish the risk exposure to a sustainable 
level.

Risk reporting system shall provide efficient 
and timely access to information on risks to ensure 
the optimal functioning of the Company and its 
prompt and appropriate reaction. Reports must 

be submitted to the management and supervisory 
bodies and other competent authorities that are 
involved in the decision-making process. The results 
of the risk exposure are included in the Risk Report, 
the Risk and Solvency Assessment Report (ORSA) 
and the Financial Statement (SFCR). The report 
on risk shall include risk indicators, trends in their 
developments and information on the utilization of 
limits. It also contains recommendations prepared 
by the Risk Management Department.

6.3. Own risk and 
solvency 
assessment (ORSA)

The purpose of the ORSA process is to determine 
that the Company has a sufficient volume of available 
capital in relation to the external  circumstances, its 
own risk profile and business strategy, and to assess 
the adequacy of the capital reserves that protect the 
Company against a possible negative impact of a 
future financial or economic crisis. 

Based on the changes in economic conditions due 
to Covid-19 pandemic, updated business strategy 
and future expectations, it was necessary to identify 
the key risks and stress scenarios, which could have a 
negative impact on the achievement of the planned 
goals and limits determined in the Risk Appetite. 
All organizational units are included in the ORSA 
process and are regularly informed of the results. 

Furthermore, the ORSA process enables the 
Company to identify the risks and stress scenarios, 
which are classified according to the probability of 
occurrence and the extent of their impact. At the 
same time, the Company evaluates the adequacy 
of the standard formula for calculating the capital 
requirements. If it is established that the standard 
formula is not sufficient to cover the identified 
risks, the Company shall set an additional capital 
requirement. 

The results of the ORSA process are presented 
in the ORSA Report. The Management Board, 

the Senior Management, the Audit Committee 
and the Supervisory Board are duly and timely 
informed of the assessment results. 

Due to exceptional circumstances in 2020, the 
Company carried out two (2) own risk and 
solvency assessments. The extraordinary ORSA, 
which was carried out in spring 2020, was a 
response to the global Covid-19 pandemic. The 
regular ORSA was carried out in autumn when 
the preparation of the business plan started. 

Despite the Covid-19 pandemic, the accumulation 
of numerous natural disasters which contributed to 
the deterioration of the Reinsurers’ credit quality, 
significant price and financial market volatility, the 
ORSA processes carried out in 2020 confirmed 
that the Company has a strong capital base 
especially considering the internally identified risks 
in extremely volatile and aggravated circumstances.

6.4. Capital 
management

The capital represents the prime criterion for 
assessing the Company’s solvency, as in its operations 
the Company needs to constantly hold adequate 
capital to protect the owner’s and the contractual 
partners’ assets. An adequate capital base shall ensure 
a safety margin for various risks that the Company 
is exposed to and shall protect the Company against 
any unexpected adverse events. The Company is 
obliged to keep sufficient assets corresponding to 
the Company’s exposure and business strategy.

The Company has determined the following 
three criteria for the assessment of its capital 
strength, which are also taken into account when 
determining its dividend policy:
•	 the	regulatory	capital	adequacy;
•	 the	capital	adequacy	based	on	the	own	risk	

and solvency assessment;
•	 the	ratings	assigned	by	the	rating	agency	S&P.

In 2020, the Company was sufficiently capitalized.
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Capital adequacy risk and 

compliance with capital 

requirements

Capital and capital adequacy 

management

The appropriate capital management system shall 
enable the Company to achieve the strategic 
goals that have been set, to ensure its sound and 
safe operation and to deliver an adequate return 
to the owner. Capital risk management is carried 
out through regular monitoring of the volume, 
availability and quality of Company’s resources, 
taking into account the dividend policy and capital 
adequacy ratios. The Company performs a regular 
annual capital adequacy assessment using the 
ORSA process and its own methodologies to assess 
its exposure to the various risks and then compares 
it with the amount of available funds.

As at 31 December 2020, the available capital 
significantly exceeded the capital requirements 
reflecting the risk exposure. The capital adequacy 
is presented in detail in the Solvency and Financial 
Position Report of the Company for 2020. 

As at 31 December 2020, the amount of the 
Company’s own funds amounted to EUR 111,122 

thousand, taking into account last year’s call by 
the Insurance Supervision Agency to withhold 
dividend payments due to the Covid-19 pandemic 
and unpredictability, in financial markets at least, 
until the presentation of the auditors’ opinion 
on the  annual reports for 2020. Therefore, the 
Company did not pay a dividend in 2020. In 
determining the amount of eligible capital to 
cover the solvency capital requirement (SCR) and 
minimum capital requirement (MCR) as at 31 
December 2020, the projected dividend payment 
in 2021 has been taken into account.

As at 31 December 2020, the estimation of the 
capital adequacy was within the strategic goals set 
(between 200.0 percent and 250.0 percent).

As shown in the table below, the Company 
maintained its strong capital position, as confirmed 
by the own risk and solvency assessment as well 
as by the Company’s overall creditworthiness and 
financial rating given by S&P and A.M. Best. As at 
31 December 2020, Triglav Re, d.d. had the “A” 
credit and financial strength rating with a stable 
medium-term outlook.

The detailed disclosures on the capital adequacy by 
type of risk for the year 2020 are presented in the 
Report on the Solvency and Financial Position of 
Triglav Re, d.d. 

Table 5: Capital adequacy

31 December 2020 31 December 2019

Total appropriate capital to cover SCR (in EUR) 111,122,304 106,909,810

Total appropriate capital to cover MCR (in EUR) 111,122,304 106,909,810

SCR – Solvency capital requirement (in EUR) 44,361,713 42,960,058

MCR – Minimum capital requirement (in EUR) 18,663,725 16,308,905

Capital adequacy in relation to SCR (appropriate capital to cover SCR/SCR) 250% 249%

Capital adequacy in relation to MCR (appropriate capital to cover MCR/MCR) 595% 656%

6.5. Types of risks and 
their management 
system

When carrying out its activities, the Company is 
exposed to various risks, among which the most 
essential are: insurance risks, market risks (including 
interest rate risk, currency and equity risks, credit 
spreads risk and market concentration risk), credit 
risk, liquidity risk,  operational risk and non-
financial risks (strategic risk and reputational risk).

In addition to these risks, there are also emerging 
risks that are difficult to predict, identify and 
measure but they can have a significant impact on 
the Company’s operations.

The International Financial Reporting Standards 
define the following risks: insurance, market, 
credit, liquidity and other risks. The Company’s 
risk classification is adjusted to the classification 
pursued by IFRS as follows:

•	 According	 to	 the	 IFRS	 and	 the	 Company’s	
adjusted classification, the most common 
market risks include currency risk, interest 
rate and other price risks (equity and real estate 
risk) 

•	 According	 to	 the	 IFRS	 and	 the	 Company’s	
adjusted classification, credit risks are defined 
as the risk of credit premiums, the risk of 
market concentration and the counterparty 
default risk. A significant part of the latter is 
represented by the risk of exposure arising 
from reinsurance and other receivables (cash 
given, receivables from accepted reinsurance 
business).

•	 There	 are	 no	 differences	 between	 insurance	
and liquidity risks.

•	 Other	IFRS	risks	include	operational,	strategic,	
equity, and reputation risks. The classification 
of other risks is the same as in the internal 
methodology.

The Company monitors and reports to Management 
the exposures and risk assessments based on 

regulatory requirements and the defined internal 
risk classification. Due to differences in valuation 
methods according to IFRS or Solvency II, the 
values of individual balance sheet items may differ 
significantly, which is reflected in the differences 
in the exposures of individual risks. In addition, 
it also affects the sensitivity of the items and thus 
the risk assessment. A more detailed account of the 
differences between the valuations is presented in 
the Report on the solvency and financial position 
of Triglav Re, d.d.

A brief description of the most important types of 
risk and how they are managed is presented below. 

Underwriting risk

Underwriting risk is the risk of loss borne by a 
(Re)insurer due to faulty underwriting. The 
underwriting risks are related to the risk of a 
possible loss occurrence or an increase in insurance 
liabilities due to inadequate premium volume, 
inappropriate figures used in the calculation of 
insurance technical provisions, inappropriate risk 
assumption, changing trends in the loss occurrences, 
as well as changes in the natural, economic, political, 
technological, social and cultural environment. The 
risk of insufficient insurance technical provisions, 
the premium risk and the risk of major loss as a 
result of natural catastrophes are also classified 
among the underwriting risks.

Risk of insuFIcient insurance 

technical provisions

The Company must set up corresponding 
insurance technical provisions for all assumed 
reinsurance business, in order to cover all future 
liabilities from reinsurance contracts and possible 
losses arising from the assumed risks. The risk 
related to the insurance technical provisions is that 
the volume of the insurance technical provisions 
is not sufficient to cover all liabilities. This risk 
is primarily managed by the evaluation of the 
previous provisions for outstanding claims and the 
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subsequent actual liabilities incurred, by applying 
the appropriate actuarial methods in setting up the 
specific insurance technical provisions and by the 
prudent formation of provisions for outstanding 
claims.

According to the International Accounting 
Standards and the Insurance Act, the Company 
has set up the following insurance technical 
provisions: the provisions for unearned premiums, 
the provisions for outstanding claims, and the 
equalization provisions for credit insurance, 
which are recorded under equity, the provisions 
for bonuses, rebates and cancellations, and other 
technical provisions, such as the provisions for 
unexpired risks. The sufficiency of the insurance 
technical provisions that have been developed is 
verified with the liability adequacy test (LAT). 

For calculating the capital adequacy, the 
Company shall establish the best estimate of the 
insurance technical provisions on the basis of 
the applicable regulation, which is equal to the 
sum of the best estimate and the risk allowance, 
which shall be calculated separately for non-life 
and life (re)insurance. The actuary is responsible 
for coordinating the calculation of the insurance 
technical provisions, ensuring that the appropriate 
methods, models and assumptions are used. They 

shall also assess the adequacy, sufficiency and quality 
of the data required to calculate the insurance 
technical provisions, and compare the amount of 
insurance technical provisions with empirical data.

Due to the peculiarities in reinsurance business, the 
Company cannot use the triangulation method for 
the provisions for outstanding claims prepared on 
the basis of loss occurrence, but instead prepares the 
data on the settled claims by underwriting year. By 
then using the appropriate actuarial methods, the 
Company estimates the expected future liabilities 
by individual underwriting year. The provisions 
for outstanding claims are not discounted. The 
excess of net provisions for the total amount of all 
underwriting years is positive, reflecting the fact 
that the risk of insufficient insurance technical 
provisions was well managed in 2020.

As at 31 December 2020, the Company recorded 
total net insurance technical provisions of 
EUR 138,311,591. The net insurance technical 
provisions, by type of provisions, on 31 December 
2020 are shown in the table below.

In 2020, the net insurance technical provisions 
increased by 12.6 percent and as at 31 December 
2020 are fully covered by the assets.

Table 6: Structure of net insurance technical provisions 

in EUR

YEAR 2020 YEAR 2019

Net provisions for unearned premium 25,890,304 18,560,609

Net provisions for bonuses, rebates and cancellations 587,443 630,713

Net provisions for outstanding claims 110,177,569 102,193,387

Provisions for unexpired risks 1,656,274 1,453,379

TOTAL 138,311,590 122,838,090

Premium risk vs claims risk

Premium and loss risk is the risk that reinsurance 
claims would be higher than expected or that the 
premium earned would be lower than expected.  

Premium and loss risk management is the 
responsibility of the Heads of Departments 
who underwrite the business. They have 
specifically defined powers and responsibilities for 
underwriting and must ensure that all procedures 
relating to underwriting are performed to a highly 
professional level. They are also responsible for 
the implementation of a strategy related to the 
Company’s exposure to particular catastrophic 
events in the certain areas.

A crucial risk faced by the Company is the risk 
of a huge loss arising from a particular event or a 
series of events. Such a loss can affect a number of 
reinsurance contracts that cover the same territorial 
scope, and a number of different insurance classes 
covered by a reinsurance contract. These risks 
can arise from loss events with lower frequency 
(e.g. natural catastrophes), from unexpected 
demographic changes (e.g. ageing, mortality rate) or 
unexpected changes in legislation that could have 
a negative impact on the amount of compensation. 
The Company provides an appropriate reinsurance 
programme according to which part of the assumed 
business is covered that exceeds the fixed amounts 
defined by the maximum retention lines. This risk 
shall be managed by professional underwriting, 
measuring the exposure to the various natural 
perils by geographic area and particularly by the 
accurately determined retention limits.

Major Loss Risk due to 

Natural Disasters

The Company is operating with companies in 
different regions worldwide. According to the 
guidelines, the Company is primarily focused on 
short-term non-life business. Non-life reinsurance 
business generally includes cover for losses caused 
by various natural disasters. The most exposed 
classes are fire and technical insurance classes, 
motor and crop insurance.

The Company also reinsures the risk of a major 
loss caused by natural perils. Natural disasters are 
events, such as earthquakes, floods, storms, hail and 
sleet, with a low frequency but which can cause 
devastating consequences. The extent of this risk 
is affected by different characteristics, such as, the 
scope of reinsurance cover in regions that are 
historically more exposed to the occurrence of 
natural disasters, the geographic dispersion, and the 
reinsurance terms and conditions governing the 
cover of the natural catastrophes.

In assessing the potential loss arising from a natural 
disaster, some professional models and methods can 
be used to simulate various catastrophes, based on 
which the loss amount can be estimated by taking 
into account different return periods for a particular 
part of the reinsurance portfolio. The Company 
is monitoring the exposure using a reference loss 
event with a return period of 200 years. 

The Company shall regularly monitor its exposure 
to natural catastrophes by risk type and by 
geographical region. The outward reinsurance 
contracts (retrocession contracts) are structured 
to cover part of the already assumed risks, which 
provides better control of the Company’s exposure 
and thereby protects the Company’s assets. The 
previous reinsurance programmes have proved 
to be appropriate, as the Company continuously 
fulfilled all liabilities arising from the insurance 
contracts without any increased liquidity risk. 
Furthermore, the Company regularly monitors 
the credit rating of other Reinsurers and thus takes 
care of the counterparty default risk.
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Market risks

Market risk is the risk of losses to financial 
investments caused by adverse price movements 
as for example, changes in equity prices or 
commodity prices, interest rate movements or 
foreign exchange fluctuations. Alongside credit 
risk and operational risk, the market risk is one of 
three core risks that may have a substantial impact 
on the Company’s performance. 

Market risk management refers to the active 
monitoring of potential risks that the Company may 
face. The purpose of market risk management is to 
ensure a liquid and diversified investment portfolio 
of adequate credit quality and to harmonize the 
interest rate and currency structure of the assets 
and liabilities so as to ensure compliance with 
the “prudent person” principle and the optimum 
balance sheet structure according to the Company’s 
Risk Appetite, taking into account:

•	 the	trading	position	limits	for	permitted	
exposure to individual risks or groups of risks,

•	 the	maximum	permissible	mismatch	between	
the currency and interest rate structure of 
assets and liabilities,

•	 the	compliance	of	the	Company’s	investment	
activities with the above restrictions.

The trading limits represent the main tool for 
market risk management. The limits from the Risk 
Appetite take into account the capital position of 
the Company, its strategic business objectives and 
the current situation on the financial markets. The 
exposure to individual investment classes is limited, 
taking into account the type of financial instrument, 
the issuer and their credit quality. The limits shall 
determine the acceptable types of investments 
and forbid the use of financial instruments for the 
purpose of speculation. They shall also restrict the 
maximum permissible exposure to a single person 
or a group of related persons.

By monitoring the market risk indicators, using 
sensitivity analyses and by the stress testing scenarios, 
the Company regularly verifies its vulnerability to 

the changes of various market risk factors and then 
adapts to them accordingly.

Interest rate risk is the risk of a loss due to 
changes in the value of interest-sensitive assets and 
liabilities, resulting from adverse changes in interest 
rates and an unfavourable interest rate mismatch of 
assets and liabilities.

The Company reduces interest rate risk by 
adjusting the duration of its assets and liabilities. 
The interest rate structure of financial investments 
is adjusted based on the estimation of the duration 
of the liabilities arising from reinsurance contracts. 

By monitoring interest rate indicators, sensitivity 
analyses and stress scenarios, the Company regularly 
verifies its vulnerability to changes in interest rates 
and then adjusts for them accordingly.

Risk of Interest Rate 

Changes 

Interest rate risk is the risk of a loss due to a 
change in the value of interest-sensitive financial 
assets and liabilities, arising from an unfavourable 
change in the market level of interest rates and an 
inappropriate interest rate adjustment of assets and 
liabilities. In the case of the interest-sensitive assets 
that pay coupons within the period until maturity, 
the Company is also exposed to reinvestment risk, 
which is especially relevant in a period of low 
market interest rates. The Company maintains a 
partial mismatch between the maturity of assets and 
liabilities in order to generate additional returns.

Interest rate risk management is carried out by 
an appropriate allocation of investments with 
different maturity dates. The Company may also 
manage interest rate risk with the interest rate 
derivatives, but in 2020, it did not have any such 
financial instruments.

The Company’s exposure to market risk due to 
interest rate changes is accumulated in the interest-
sensitive investment portfolio. Interest rate sensitivity 

depends on the characteristics of the financial profile 
determined by the maturity, size and timing of the 
cash flows and the type of contractual interest rate.

The Company is also exposed to the risk of changes 
in future cash flows due to the changes in market 
interest rates. In 2020, the Company tied cash only 
on call deposits with the interest rate between 0.00 
percent and 0.01 percent. All deposits were pegged 
at a fixed interest rate. In 2020, the Company had 
to bear the costs of storage fees in some bank 
accounts.

The Company monitors its exposure to interest 
rate risk through daily checks on the impact of 
interest rate changes on the value of its capital in 
relation to the exposure of the assets and liabilities 
to the interest rate risk. The internal interest rate 
risk assessment is calculated by using the duration 
spread method.

Sensitivity analysis of 

FInancial assets to interest 

rate risk

 
The sensitivity of financial assets to interest rate 
movement is expressed as the effect of a parallel 
shift in the interest rate curve by +/- 100 basis 
points on the fair value of all interest-sensitive 
financial assets. These are the debt securities 
recorded as available-for-sale.

The table below shows that the sensitivity of 
interest rate risk increased in 2020. The hypothetical 
positive and negative changes in the interest rates 
have a major impact on the government securities, 
which represent the largest part of the Company’s 
portfolio. Should the interest rates rise by 100 basis 
points, the Company’s equity would be reduced by 
EUR 7,461,000.

Table 7: Structure of debt securities

 in EUR 

31. 12. 2020 31. 12. 2019

Debt securities 183,740,820 174,091,449

 - Government securities 123,924,383 94,823,605

 - Securities of financial institutions 35,707,712 51,764,766

 - Corporate securities 24,108,726 27,503,078

 - Compound securities 0 0

Financial derivatives 0 0

TOTAL EXPOSED ASSETS 183,740,820 174,091,449

TOTAL OTHER ASSETS 2,142,176 11,109,530

TOTAL FINANCIAL ASSETS 185,882,996 185,200,978
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Share Price Risk

Equity portfolios represent only 1.0 percent of the 
total financial assets and are displayed at fair value 
in the Statement of Financial Position. Equity 
portfolios are exposed to equity risk, which is the 
risk of fluctuations in the value of equity financial 
instruments due to changes in the factors specific to 
an individual instrument or its issuer; or reflecting 
the general situation on the stock markets.

The Company’s prime objective is to achieve 
competitive returns by investing in a diversified 
portfolio of high-quality liquid securities. The 
Company carries out regular analysis of the 
portfolio characteristics. The limits approved by the 
Company’s management are particularly restricted 
with regard to the equity exposure. At the end of 
2020, the Company did not have any position in 
investment funds.

Table 9: Structure of equity securities

in EUR

31. 12. 2020 31. 12. 2019

Equity securities and investment funds 1,666,175 1,457,139

Shares in  EU 1,530,299 1,294,037

Shares in emerging markets 135,876 163,102

TOTAL EXPOSED ASSETS 1,666,175 1,457,139

TOTAL OTHER ASSETS 184,216,821 183,743,839

TOTAL FINANCIAL ASSETS 185,882,996 185,200,978

Table 8: Sensitivity analysis of FInancial assets to interest rate risk

 in EUR 

31. 12. 2020 31. 12. 2019

 +100bp  -100bp  +100bp  -100bp 

Government securities -5,700,550 6,201,738 -3,745,725 4,041,067

Securities of financial institutions -1,085,424 1,152,405 -1,129,328 1,194,954

Corporate securities -674,986 708,431 -839,126 879,773

Compound securities 0 0 0 0

Other 0 0 0 0

TOTAL -7,460,960 8,062,574 -5,714,179 6,115,794

Impact on equity -7,460,960 8,062,574 -5,714,179 6,115,794

Impact on profit/loss 0 0 0 0

Table 10: Analysis of the sensitivity of FInancial assets to share price risk

in EUR

31. 12. 2020 31. 12. 2019

+10% -10% +10% -10%

Shares in  EU 153,030 -153,030 129,404 -129,404

Shares in emerging markets 13,588 -13,588 16,310 -16,310

TOTAL 166,617 -166,617 145,714 -145,714

Impact on equity 166,617 -166,617 145,714 -145,714

Impact on profit/loss 0 0 0 0

Currency Risk

Currency risk is the risk of loss due to changes 
in currency rates and an inadequate currency 
matching of assets and liabilities. An unfavorable 
change in the currency rates may cause a fall in the 
value of assets in foreign currency or may increase 
the value of liabilities in foreign currency. The 
main indicators of currency risk are the amount 
of open positions in foreign currency, the volatility 
of the individual currency rate and the liquidity of 
the markets for each foreign currency.

Since the Company operates in foreign markets, 
it is exposed to currency risk and it is therefore 
necessary to balance the assets and liabilities in each 
individual foreign currency, aimed at investments 
in foreign currency in which the liabilities from 
reinsurance contract are incurred.

The Company has established currency limits, 
which represent a key tool for currency risk 
management. 

Foreign currency transactions are exchanged into 
euro at the European Central Bank’s reference 
exchange rate applicable on that day. Monetary 
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign 
currencies at the reporting date are translated into 

euro at the reference exchange rate of the European 
Central Bank at the balance sheet date. Profit or loss 
from the monetary items denominated in foreign 
currency are the difference between the amortized 
costs in functional currency at the beginning of the 
period, adjusted for the actual interest and payments 
during the period, and the amortized cost in foreign 
currency exchanged at the middle exchange rate of 
the European Central Bank at the end of the period. 
Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in 
foreign currencies that are measured at fair value 
are translated into euro at the reference exchange 
rate of the European Central Bank at the date when 
the fair value was determined. Exchange differences 
arising from the translation of a foreign operation 
are recognized in profit or loss or in equity, 
depending on the accounting classification of each 
non-monetary asset.

Assets in euros represent 72.0 percent of the 
Company’s overall assets. The exposure of assets in 
foreign currencies does not represent more than 
7.0 percent of total assets.

At the end of 2020, the Company recorded the 
largest currency mismatch between assets and 
liabilities in KRW (South Korean Won), which 
resulted from the formation of gross insurance 
technical provisions. 
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Table 11: Foreign currency structure of assets and liabilities

31. 12. 2020                                                                                                                                                                                                            in EUR

Currency EUR KRW HKD USD JPY OTHER TOTAL

Financial investments 149,932,257 0 0 11,566,619 4,194,685 20,189,434 185,882,995

Deposits at Cedants 5,987,262 3,394 90,086 2,724,305 12,063 2,393,572 11,210,682

Reinsurers’ share of 
technical provisions

54,020,325 208,070 0 2,000,304 448 1,225,417 57,454,564

Receivables from 
reinsurance operations

37,234,845 2,464,859 2,887,926 9,441,635 2,191,755 35,387,448 89,608,469

Other receivables 98,841 0 32 1,793 0 23,063 123,729

Other assets 2,974,201 0 0 186 0 748,186 3,722,573

TOTAL ASSETS 250,247,731 2,676,322 2,978,044 25,734,842 6,398,952 59,967,121 348,003,012

Equity 87,042,128 0 0 0 0 0 87,042,128

Insurance technical 
provisions

125,979,877 5,046,571 3,569,534 17,952,754 4,991,542 38,225,876 195,766,154

Liabilities from 
reinsurance operations

28,296,696 981,458 1,554,210 5,591,318 894,914 24,424,701 61,743,298

Other operating 
liabilities

0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Other liabilities 3,175,073 3 15,374 287,960 7,181 -34,159 3,451,432

TOTAL LIABILITIES 244,493,774 6,028,032 5,139,119 23,832,032 5,893,637 62,616,418 348,003,012

31. 12. 2019                                                                                                                                                                                                            in EUR

Currency EUR JPY USD KRW HKD OTHER TOTAL

Financial investments 160,447,569 1,476,402 6,853,317 0 0 7,821,237 176,598,525

Deposits at Cedants 3,869,971 2,149 2,586,801 3,313 65,431 2,074,789 8,602,454

Reinsurers’ share of 
technical provisions

49,591,862 499 507,480 8,307 0 442,738 50,550,885

Receivables from 
reinsurance operations

48,256,694 154,714 2,610,061 363,753 119,792 15,917,310 67,422,325

Other receivables 36,878 0 0 0 0 0 36,878

Other assets 3,285,315 0 120,331 0 0 361 3,406,006

TOTAL ASSETS 265,488,289 1,633,763 12,677,990 375,372 185,223 26,256,434 306,617,072

Equity 83,135,427 0 0 0 0 0 83,135,427

Insurance technical 
provisions

138,060,307 5,799,045 8,748,074 1,786,324 1,256,864 17,738,360 173,388,974

Liabilities from 
reinsurance operations

30,750,702 50,155 2,128,269 257,123 65,643 13,652,754 46,904,646

Other operating 
liabilities

234,650 0 0 0 0 0 234,650

Other liabilities 2,953,374 0 0 0 0 0 2,953,374

TOTAL LIABILITIES 255,134,461 5,849,200 10,876,343 2,043,447 1,322,507 31,391,114 306,617,072

Table 12: Currency sensitivity for the FIve largest open currency positions

in  EUR

31. 12. 2020 ASSETS LIABILITIES
Open foreign 

currency 
position

Appreciation 
of foreign 

currency vs. 
EUR by 10 %

Appreciation 
of foreign 

currency vs. 
EUR by 10 %

KRW - South Korean won 2,676,322 6,028,032 -3,351,710 -335,171 335,171

HKD - Hong Kong dollar 2,978,044 5,139,119 -2,161,075 -216,107 216,107

USD - US dollar 25,734,842 23,832,032 1,902,810 190,281 -190,281

JPY - Japanese yen 6,398,952 5,893,637 505,315 50,531 -50,531

TRY - Turkish lira 2,659,862 3,127,763 -467,900 -46,790 46,790

in  EUR

31. 12. 2019 ASSETS LIABILITIES
Open foreign 

currency 
position

Appreciation 
of foreign 

currency vs. 
EUR by 10 %

Appreciation 
of foreign 

currency vs. 
EUR by 10 %

JPY - Japanese yen 1,633,763 5,849,200 -4,215,437 -421,544 421,544

USD - US dollar 12,677,990 10,876,343 1,801,647 180,165 -180,165

KRW - South Korean won 375,372 2,043,447 -1,668,075 -166,808 166,808

HKD - Hong Kong dollar 185,223 1,322,507 -1,137,284 -113,728 113,728

CNY - Chinese yuan 1,885,003 2,920,514 -1,035,512 -103,551 103,551

Thus the Company’s incurred liabilities were by 
EUR 3,352,000 higher than its assets in KRW. 
In the event of a 10% appreciation of KRW to 
EUR, at the end of 2020 the Company would 
have recorded a negative impact amounting to 
EUR 335,000. The Company’s sensitivity was also 
noticeable in appreciation of HKD (Hong Kong 
Dollar) relative to EUR. 

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk of a loss occurring if the 
Company is not able to pay outstanding liabilities or 
is forced to provide sufficient liquid assets at a price 
that is significantly higher than normal. Liquidity 
risk is also the risk of limited access to the financial 
funds needed for the payment of liabilities arising 
from the reinsurance contract and of other liabilities. 

The main objective of liquidity risk management 
is to ensure that the Company has, at any time, 
sufficient liquid assets to pay all current liabilities 
within the prescribed terms. 

The Company manages liquidity risk by monitoring 
internally determined liquidity ratios, weekly 
planning of the liquidity position, monitoring the 
historical data on the Company’s liquidity position 
(especially in case of major loss events), monitoring 
highly liquid assets and the dispersion of deposits by 
maturity and of free funds in bank accounts.  In this 
way, the Company ensures that it is able to fulfill all 
its contractual obligations at all times. Operational 
liquidity management is carried our through weekly 
liquidity planning.

Liquidity risk is reduced primarily by the highly 
liquid cover assets, which can be made available 
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quickly and at no higher cost under normal market 
conditions, as well as by the diversified maturity of 
deposits that cover daily liquidity needs. In order to 
provide its sources of liquidity, the Company could 
set up a system of credit lines that would allow it to 
withdraw cash in the event of liquidity needs.

The Company’s portfolio consists of highly 
liquid assets, which form part of its liquidity risk 
management strategy by ensuring the payment of 
all financial liabilities in difficult circumstances and 
without any noticeably higher additional costs.

The liquidity risk shall be managed by:
•	 regular	monitoring	of	 the	planned	cash	flows	

from the assets and liabilities;

•	 daily	liquidity	risk	management;
•	 monitoring	internal	liquidity	indexes;
•	 monitoring	 the	 liquidity	 risk	 in	 investment	

portfolio;
•	 monitoring	 the	 expenses	 related	 to	 securing	

liquidity; 
•	 monitoring	 the	 liquidity	 position	 in	 relevant	

financial markets.
  
In 2020, the Company maintained a strong 
liquidity position and all its contractual liabilities 
were paid within a given period.

The table below shows the structure of 
undiscounted expected cash flows of the assets and 
liabilities.

Table 13: Structure of undiscounted expected future cash Flows of assets 
and liabilities

31. 12. 2020 in EUR

FINANCIAL ASSETS AND   
LIABILITIES TO REINSURERS

NOT 
DEFINED

LESS THAN 1 
YEAR

1 TO 5 
YEARS

5 TO 10 
YEARS

OVER 10 
YEARS TOTAL Book value

Total financial investments 1,676,175 36,922,472 101,556,190 48,769,589 10,342,463 199,266,889 197,093,677

 Debt securities 0 25,245,743 101,556,190 48,769,589 10,342,463 185,913,985 183,740,821

- held to maturity 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

- at fair value through profit or loss 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

- available-for-sale 0 25,245,743 101,556,190 48,769,589 10,342,463 185,913,985 183,740,821

- loans and receivables 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

 Equity securities 1,666,175 0 0 0 0 1,666,175 1,666,175

- at fair value through profit or loss 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

- available-for-sale 1,666,175 0 0 0 0 1,666,175 1,666,175

 Financial derivatives 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

 Loans and receivables 10,000 11,676,730 0 0 0 11,686,730 11,686,682

Technical provisions ceded to 
Reinsurers 0 33,166,136 15,408,253 6,372,971 2,507,204 57,454,564 57,454,564

Operating receivables 0 89,797,908 44,268 0 0 89,842,176 89,842,176

Cash and cash equivalents 0 1,097,914 0 0 0 1,097,914 1,097,914

TOTAL FINANCIAL ASSETS AND 
LIABILITIES TO REINSURERS 1,676,175 160,984,430 117,008,712 55,142,560 12,849,667 347,661,543 345,488,331

FINANCIAL ASSETS AND   
PROVISIONS

NOT 
DEFINED

LESS THAN 1 
YEAR

1 TO 5 
YEARS

5 TO 10 
YEARS

OVER 10 
YEARS TOTAL Book value

Insurance technical provisions 0 123,126,543 54,667,120 12,720,711 5,251,780 195,766,154 195,766,154

Other provisions 0 130,850 7,108 35,778 108,681 282,417 282,417

Operating liabilities 0 61,738,871 4,427 0 0 61,743,298 61,743,298

Other liabilities 0 1,249,824 552,576 0 0 1,802,400 1,802,400

TOTAL FINANCIAL ASSETS AND 
PROVISIONS 0 186,246,088 55,231,230 12,756,489 5,360,461 259,594,268 259,594,268

31.12.2019 in EUR

FINANCIAL ASSETS AND   
LIABILITIES TO REINSURERS

NOT 
DEFINED

LESS THAN 1 
YEAR

1 TO 5 
YEARS

5 TO 10 
YEARS

OVER 10 
YEARS TOTAL Book value

Total financial investments 1,467,139 56,041,208 77,361,421 50,524,496 5,557,330 190,951,595 185,200,978

 Debt securities 0 46,398,817 77,361,421 50,524,496 5,557,330 179,842,065 174,091,449

- held to maturity 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

- at fair value through profit or loss 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

- available-for-sale 0 46,398,817 77,361,421 50,524,496 5,557,330 179,842,065 174,091,449

- loans and receivables 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

 Equity securities 1,457,139 0 0 0 0 1,457,139 1,457,139

- at fair value through profit or loss 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

- available-for-sale 1,457,139 0 0 0 0 1,457,139 1,457,139

 Financial derivatives 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

 Loans and receivables 10,000 9,642,391 0 0 0 9,652,391 9,652,391

Technical provisions ceded to 
Reinsurers 0 27,880,631 17,972,610 4,697,643 0 50,550,885 50,550,885

Operating receivables 0 67,459,203 0 0 0 67,459,203 67,459,203

Cash and cash equivalents 0 713,603 0 0 0 713,603 713,603

TOTAL FINANCIAL ASSETS AND 
LIABILITIES TO REINSURERS 1,196,586 110,966,307 120,452,645 50,150,897 13,747,293 296,513,729 303,924,669

FINANCIAL ASSETS AND   
PROVISIONS

NOT 
DEFINED

LESS THAN 1 
YEAR

1 TO 5 
YEARS

5 TO 10 
YEARS

OVER 10 
YEARS TOTAL Book value

Insurance technical provisions 0 108,483,512 54,483,642 10,421,820 0 173,388,974 173,388,974

Other provisions 0 116,899 7,195 27,285 86,982 238,361 238,361

Operating liabilities 0 47,139,296 0 0 0 47,139,296 47,139,296

Other liabilities 0 1,152,596 0 0 0 1,152,596 1,152,596

TOTAL FINANCIAL ASSETS AND  
PROVISIONS 0 125,306,238 43,614,156 16,176,606 20,459,289 205,556,287 205,556,288

The liabilities and assets are not discounted, but 
estimated by the sum of expected future cash flows. 
In 2020, the gross provisions relating to reinsurance 
contracts amounted to EUR 195,766,154 (in 
2019: EUR 173,388,974). 

The Company maintains a partial mismatch 
between the maturity of assets and liabilities, and 
thus generates part of its yield. It settles the short-
term liabilities from current incomes, and it allows 
the possibility of selling financial instruments, 
thus maintaining high liquidity of the investment 
portfolio.

Among all the securities, the securities amounting 
to EUR 19,882,000 (in 2019: EUR 21,720,000), 
are such that they can be recalled earlier by the 
issuers. 

Credit risk 

Credit risk or default risk is the risk of a loss 
resulting from the debtor’s or counter party’s 
default. It is the risk that the debtor is not able 
to repay its contractual obligations within the 
agreed time and/or amount. It can also be defined 
as the risk of a loss in the event of default or 
deterioration in the credit quality of a debtor due 
to fluctuations in the credit position of securities’ 
issuers, counterparties and the potential debtors to 
which the Company is exposed. 

The Company is exposed to credit risk that may 
arise from:

•	 The	outward	reinsurance	business	
(retrocession).  This means a possible 
loss arising from a payment inability or 
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Table 14: Structure of assets exposed to credit risk

in EUR

ASSETS YEAR 2020 YEAR 2019

Equity securities 1,666,175 1,457,139

Debt securities 183,740,820 174,091,449

Technical provisions ceded to Reinsurers 57,454,564 50,550,885

Loans and receivables 11,686,682 9,652,391

Receivables 89,842,174 67,459,203

TOTAL EXPOSED ASSETS 344,390,416 303,211,066

In managing credit risk, the Company adheres 
to the principle of the sound diversification of 
investments of better credit quality. The average 
credit rating of the bond portfolio in 2020 was 
A-. The below table shows that the Company also 
owns debt securities without a credit rating. These 
are mostly issued by the Slovenian financial and 

corporate sector. Slovenian government bonds 
represent the largest portion of bonds with an “A” 
rating.

The table below shows the credit quality of 
counterparties from reinsurance contracts, bank 
deposits and other receivables and liabilities.

from deterioration in the Reinsurers’ 
(Retrocessionaires’) credit position. 

•	 The	financial	investments.	This	risk	reflects	a	
possible loss arising from an inability to pay or 
from a deterioration in credit standing of the 
issuers of the financial investments, of banks and 
of counter parties who operate the derivative 
financial instruments. The risk also includes 
concentration risk related to credit risk. 

•	 The	claims	against	other	debtors	(e.g.	Cedants’	
claims arising from premium payments and 
other claims).

In accordance with the internal rules, the credit risk 
associated with the reinsurance contracts is managed 
by the selection of Reinsurers (Retrocessionaires), 
whose credit ratings should generally not be lower 
than “BBB+” by Standard and Poor’s and “bbb+” 
by A. M. Best. The exemption to this is for the 
outward liability reinsurance business, where the 
credit rating should not be lower than “A–“ by the 
S&P and “a-“ by A. M. Best.

The maximum exposure to banks and banking 
groups is determined by the internal methodology 
for the assessment of credit quality, considering 
their financial position and the credit ratings of 
internationally recognized rating agencies.

The choice of an issuer with the appropriate credit 
rating, taking into account the maximum exposure 
to an individual issuer or a group of related persons, 
are the main concerns of the investment portfolio 
management.

Credit risk also includes concentration risk, 
which is measured in all business operations. 
Concentration risk within credit risk is the risk of 
a possible loss arising from an excessive exposure to 
a single counterparty, a group of related parties or 
parties who are associated by common risk factors 
such as various sectors, a geographical areas or 
countries.

Table 15: Credit risk in debt securities portfolio (book value of bonds is 
taken into account)

in EUR

CREDIT RATING YEAR 2020 in % YEAR 2019 in %

AAA 46,386,300 25% 24,115,213 14%

AA 11,409,128 6% 11,009,789 6%

A 64,575,167 35% 59,891,091 34%

BBB 52,350,951 28% 63,122,567 36%

BB 5,666,198 3% 6,372,846 4%

B 1,466,602 1% 3,081,841 2%

without credit rating 1,886,475 1% 6,498,102 4%

TOTAL 183,740,820 100% 174,091,449 100%

Table 16: Credit risk of loans and receivables, which include the 
Company’s deposits with banks and FInancial investments under 
reinsurance contracts with the Cedants

in EUR

CREDIT RATING YEAR 2020 in % YEAR 2019 in %

AA 0 0% 493,670 5%

A 1,273,458 11% 1,871,622 19%

BBB 0 0% 12,440 0%

BB 466,000 4% 778,502 8%

B 0 0% 34,748 0%

without credit rating 9,947,224 85% 6,461,408 67%

TOTAL 11,686,682 100% 9,652,391 100%
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Receivables are also exposed to credit risk. Credit 
risk significantly diminishes the characteristic of 
reinsurance contracts that, as a rule, the receivables 
and liabilities related to the same Reinsurer 
(settlement of claims for premiums and liabilities 
for losses and commissions in inward business; 
and settlement of claims for losses, commissions 

and liabilities for premiums in outward business) 
are settled with each other. The table below shows 
the age structure of the offset receivables against 
liabilities from inward and outward business, and 
the actual dynamics of payments and claims of 
Company’s liabilities and receivables.

Table 17: Maturity structure of receivables and liabilities from 
reinsurance operations

in EUR

YEAR 2020 Not matured 
yet

Maturity up 
to 180 days

Maturity over 
180 days Total

Inward operations 100,202,654 11,328,766 4,855,672 116,387,092

- receivables for premium from reinsurance 
   assumed

66,465,827 6,243,027 2,597,972 75,306,825

- liabilities to Reinsurers for shares in claims 15,783,116 3,423,059 1,525,404 20,731,578

- other liabilities from coinsurance and 
   reinsurance

17,953,712 1,662,680 732,297 20,348,689

Outward operations 31,349,500 1,944,219 1,670,957 34,964,676

- liabilities to retrocession premium 18,726,819 1,252,508 683,704 20,663,031

- receivables for Reinsurers' shares in claims 6,996,843 349,709 800,016 8,146,568

- other receivables from coinsurance and 
   reinsurance

5,625,837 342,002 187,237 6,155,077

TOTAL 131,552,154 13,272,985 6,526,629 151,351,768

YEAR 2019 Not matured 
yet

Maturity up 
to 180 days

Maturity over 
180 days Total

Inward operations 21,606,777 422,941 138,349 22,168,067

- receivables for premium from reinsurance 
   assumed

53,830,104 4,566,064 802,559 59,198,726

- liabilities to Reinsurers for shares in claims -15,753,428 -2,588,436 -408,981 -18,750,845

- other liabilities from coinsurance and 
   reinsurance

-16,469,899 -1,554,686 -255,229 -18,279,814

Outward operations -2,207,090 222,712 333,990 -1,650,388

- liabilities to retrocession premium -9,153,861 -679,327 -40,797 -9,873,986

- receivables for Reinsurers' shares in claims 4,460,917 678,575 340,872 5,480,364

- other receivables from coinsurance and 
   reinsurance

2,485,854 223,464 33,916 2,743,235

TOTAL 19,399,686 645,653 472,339 20,517,678

Table 18: Structure of receivables by maturity

in EUR

YEAR 2020 Not matured 
yet

Maturity up 
to 180 days

Maturity over 
180 days Total

Receivables from coinsurance and reinsurance 79,088,507 6,934,738 3,585,225 89,608,469

- receivables for premium from reinsurance assumed 66,465,827 6,243,027 2,597,972 75,306,825

- receivables to Reinsurers for shares in claims 6,996,843 349,709 800,016 8,146,568

- other receivables from coinsurance and reinsurance 5,625,837 342,002 187,237 6,155,077

Other receivables 45,065 0 0 45,065

TOTAL 79,133,572 6,934,738 3,585,225 89,653,534

in EUR

YEAR 2019 Not matured 
yet

Maturity up 
to 180 days

Maturity over 
180 days Total

Receivables from coinsurance and reinsurance 60,776,875 5,468,103 1,177,346 67,422,324

- receivables for premium from reinsurance assumed 53,830,104 4,566,064 802,559 59,198,726

- receivables to Reinsurers for shares in claims 4,460,917 678,575 340,872 5,480,364

- other receivables from coinsurance and reinsurance 2,485,854 223,464 33,916 2,743,234

Other receivables 36,878 0 0 36,878

TOTAL 60,813,753 5,468,103 1,177,346 67,459,203

Credit risk can also arise from retrocessions if a Reinsurer 
(Retrocessionaire) does not settle their obligations fully 
and in a timely manner. In order to reduce this risk, the 
Company has established business and financial standards 
to evaluate the Reinsurers, which are based on the 
credit ratings provided by the internationally recognized 
credit rating agencies and on actual market information. 

The Company monitors the financial position of the 
Reinsurers and, as a general rule, liability retrocession 
contracts are concluded with Reinsurers who have a credit 
rating of at least “A-” from S&P or the equivalent from 
other credit rating agencies, and at least “BBB +” from S&P 
or the equivalent for other reinsurance classes. In 2020, the 
average credit rating of our contractual partners was “A+”.

Table 19: Structure of Company’s exposure to the business partners 
(Reinsurers) by credit rating

in EUR

Reinsurers credit rating (S&P's) YEAR 2020 YEAR 2019

AAA 0 0

AA 26,015,886 23,370,177

A 23,700,448 23,730,502

BBB 2,967,067 319,741

BB 2,098,161 633,741

without credit rating 2,673,002 2,496,724

TOTAL 57,454,564 50,550,885
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 Operational risk

The Company shall pay special attention to 
the management of operational risk, which is 
involved in all aspects of the business. Operational 
risk is defined as the risk of a loss resulting from 
inappropriate or unsuccessful:

•	 implementation	and/or	performance	of	an	
internal process (or a product),

•	 behaviour	of	the	employees,
•	 performance	of	already	established	systems,	or
•	 control	and	management	of	external	

circumstances and events.

Operational risk includes IT risks and cyber risks 
arising from the use and transmission of electronic 
data, including technology such as the internet 
and telecommunications networks.  Legal risks, 
compliance risk, effective and efficient project 
implementation risk, planning failure risk, handling 
risk, model risk and outsourcing risk are also 
included in operational risk. However, strategic 
and reputational risk are not operational risks. 
 
The management of operational risks is based on 
an efficient system of internal controls that must 
be improved and updated from year to year. The 
Company manages organizational risk by making 
adjustments to the internal organizational structure, 
by strictly defining responsibilities of all employees 
and implementing the gradual computerization 
of business processes. Staffing risk is managed by 
applying the knowledge transfer system among 
the employees and by planned training and further 
education. 

An essential element of successful operational 
risk management is a well-established business 
contingency and continuity plan, which was clearly 
shown in 2020 due to the Covid-19 pandemic, 
when companies were forced to relocate work to 
employees’ homes overnight.

Non-Financial Risks

The key non-financial risks are strategic risks, 
capital risk and reputational risk. Non-financial 
risks are strongly related to other risks and usually 
arise from several risk factors outside or within the 
Company.

Strategic risk  is the risk of a loss arising from 
inappropriate business decisions, inadequate 
functioning of the established systems or an 
insufficient degree of responsiveness to the changes 
in the business environment. The Company’s 
Management Board and Senior Management 
promptly exchange information relevant for 
making business decisions, achieving short-
term and long-term goals and making decisions 
regarding strategic risk management.

The identification and assessment of strategic risk 
is carried out regularly by evaluating the actual and 
potential strategic risks to which the Company is 
exposed. 

Reputational risk, often called reputation risk, 
is the risk of a loss resulting from the negative 
image of the Company, which may result in 
increased operating, capital or regulatory costs, or 
in legal disputes that can cause the loss of business 
partner(s) leading consequently to financial loss. 
The management of reputational risk is the duty 
of all employees, including its supervisory bodies. 

The identification of reputational risk is carried 
out by reporting the loss events arising from 
operational risk as well as by internal workshops. 

Capital risk

Capital risk is the risk of loss due to the insufficient 
and inappropriate composition of capital in terms 
of volume and operating methods, or to the 
difficulties faced by the Company in acquiring new 
capital, especially in the case of a need for rapid 
capital increase or an adverse business environment. 
Capital risk is influenced by changes in accounting 
standards, regulations and supervisory decisions, 
which affect the dividend payment and the 
transferability of available capital.

6.6. Future Challenges
 in Risk 

Management 
System

Given the many uncertainties of the fight against 
the spread of Covid-19 which created unstable 
economic and social conditions, the Company will 
continue to monitor the movement of risk factors 
and assess their potential impact on the risk profile 
and capital adequacy. Furthermore, climate changes 
and extreme weather conditions remain a key 
risk factor for the non-life insurance sector. The 
Company is obliged to ensure sound and prudent 
risk assessment and assumption by appropriate 
geographical diversification and variety of assumed 
risks and to provide comprehensive and efficient 
reinsurance programmes.

The Company shall continuously upgrade its risk 
management system in order to ensure accurate 
and timely information for the most appropriate 
business decisions. It will closely monitor changes 
in the external and internal environment and adapt 
accordingly. A major challenge is to upgrade the 
risk measurement methodologies and improve data 
quality. 

The harmonization of the risk management system 
with the parent company will ensure greater 
uniformity in the risk measurement methods used 
by the Triglav Group companies. In addition, the 
further development of the own risk and solvency 
assessment and the risk exposure reporting will 
result in better coordination of management 
processes within the Triglav Group. However, the 
Company must take into account the specifics of 
the reinsurance business, its own risk profile and the 
extent and complexity of its business operations. 



To get from Bohinj to the Soča Valley, we hop on the train and enjoy the panorama. Built at the 
beginning of the 20th century, this historic railway used to connect Austria and Germany with the port of 
Trieste. Upon arrival to the tranquil town of Most na Soči, we can admire the emerald waters of the Soča 
River, one of the most stunning rivers in Europe. 
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In 2020, Triglav Re, d.d. generated a net profit of 
EUR 2,817,983, which is 42.5 percent less than 
in 2019. The insurance technical result is more 
favourable than in 2019, the realized combined 
ratio for the overall business performance of 
Triglav Re is 94.9 percent, while in 2019 it was 
97.2 percent. The gross operating costs in 2020 are 
3.9 percent higher than in the previous year. Due 
to currency exposure protection, the favourable 
insurance technical result and thus the final result 
for 2020 is nullified by the negative result of 

financial investments, since the investment expenses 
were a multiple of the previous year. Among 
them, the largest part is represented by exchange 
losses in investments and other investment costs 
(management fee, storage costs, etc.). The revenues 
from investments decreased by 34.7 percent 
compared to 2019. The total return on financial 
investments thus amounted to a negative amount 
of EUR 973,000, while in 2019 it amounted to 

EUR 3.8 million.

Table 20: Gross reinsurance premiums in 2020 and 2019 

in EUR

YEAR 2020 YEAR 2019 INDEX

GROSS PREMIUM TOTAL 180,967,469 157,582,324 114.8

NET PREMIUM TOTAL 106,430,325 100,506,922 105.9

Breakdown of gross reinsurance premium by territories

Oceania
1.3%

South
America

1.0%
Central and 
West Asia

6.7%

East Asia
10.0%

Southern Europe
58.4%

Caribbean and
Central America

2.3%

South and North Africa
1.7%

Northern Europe
3.1%

Eastern Europe
3.7%

South and South-East Asia
3.0%

Western Europe
8.8%

 

Other Reinsurance
5.1%

Marine and 
Aviation Reinsurance

6.2%

Property Reinsurance
64.0%

Other Liability Reinsurance
5.6%

Motor Reinsurance
19.1%

 

Other Reinsurance
2.9%

Marine and 
Aviation Reinsurance

7.6%

Property Reinsurance
68.4%

Other Liability Reinsurance
5.8%

Motor Reinsurance
15.3%

Structure of gross reinsurance premium in 2020

Structure of net reinsurance premium in 2020

7.1. Gross reinsurance 
premiums

In 2020, the gross reinsurance premium volume 
amounted to EUR 180,967,469 and it increased 
by 14.8 percent compared to 2019.

Compared to 2019, the net premium in 2020 has 
recorded a lower increase than the gross premium. 
The increase of 5.9 percent in the net premium is 
considered a result of the growth of the outward 
business in 2020. 

7. FINANCIAL RESULTS
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The largest part of the gross reinsurance premium 
is property reinsurance with an increase of 0.8 
percentage points compared to 2019. The most 
significant increase of 0.9 percentage points in 
2020 was recorded in the marine and aviation 
business. The portion of other lines of business 
increased by 0.8 percentage points. Conversely, the 
portion of motor reinsurance business decreased 
by 1.7 percentage points, while other liability lines 
decreased by 0.8 percentage points.

In the net reinsurance premium structure, the 
portion of property business increased by 4.7 
percentage points and the marine and aviation 
business by 1.2 percentage points. Other lines 
of reinsurance business also increased by 0.5 
percentage points. A decrease of 5.5 percentage 
points was recorded in motor reinsurance and a 
decrease of 0.9 percentage points in the other lines 
of liability reinsurance.

The net reinsurance premium income (calculated 
from the gross reinsurance premiums less the 
reinsured share and adjusted by the change in gross 
unearned premium, corrected by the reinsured 
share in the unearned premium) amounted to 
EUR 99,100,630 in 2020 and it decreased by 0.1 
percent compared to 2019.

7.2. Reinsurance 
claims

In comparison with the preceding year, gross 
claims increased by 3.0 percent and amounted to 
EUR 76,015,279, while net claims decreased by 
3.0 percent and amounted to EUR 54,979,389.

In 2020, the majority of gross claims affected 
property and motor reinsurance business. 
Compared to 2019, the highest increase of 2.5 
percentage points in gross claims was recorded 
in other liability lines, while the most significant 
decrease of 5.7 percentage points was noted in the 
property business. 

The net claims structure is similar to the gross 
claims structure, since the majority of net claims 
are also related to property reinsurance (65.2 
percent) and to motor reinsurance (18.7 percent). 
Compared to the previous year, the portion of net 
claims in property reinsurance increased by 2.3 
percentage points, which is the inverse of the gross 
claims.

In 2020, the net claims incurred (gross claims 
incurred, reduced by the reinsured share and 
adjusted by a change in the gross claims provisions 
corrected by the reinsured share in those provisions) 
amounted to EUR 62,963,571 and they were 0.4 
percent lower than in 2019. 

Table 21: Settled claims in 2020 and 2019 

in EUR

YEAR 2020 YEAR 2019 INDEX

GROSS CLAIMS TOTAL 76,015,279 73,805,192 103.0

NET CLAIMS TOTAL 54,979,389 56,668,412 97.0

Other Reinsurance
4.1%

Marine and 
Aviation Reinsurance

7.5%

Property Reinsurance
57.4%

Other Liability Reinsurance
9.2%

Motor Reinsurance
21.8%

Other Reinsurance
2.1%

Marine and 
Aviation Reinsurance

9.3%

Property Reinsurance
65.2%

Other Liability Reinsurance
4.7%

Motor Reinsurance
18.7%

Structure of gross reinsurance claims in 2020

Structure of net reinsurance claims in 2020
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Table 22: Gross loss ratio 

in EUR

2019

2020
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31. 12. 2020

31. 12. 2019

31. 12. 2020

0 100,000,000 200,000,000 300,000,000

- 1,000,000

53.4%

42.0%

7.3. Gross loss ratio

The gross loss ratio (the ratio of the gross claims 
paid to the gross premiums written), decreased by 

4.8 percentage points compared to 2019, which is 
mostly the result of substantial premium growth 
in 2020.

7.4. Commission 
income and 
expenses 

Commission income in 2020 amounted to EUR 
17,110,418. Compared to the previous year it 
increased by EUR 3.8 million or by 28.6 percent, 
whereas the commission expenses amounting to 
EUR 43,164,113 increased by 2.3 percent in 2020. 
Net commission expenses in 2020 thus amounted 
to EUR 26,053,694.

7.5. Financial 
 income and 

expenses 

The financial investment position as at 31 
December 2020 stood at EUR 197,093,677 and 
compared to the previous year, it increased by 6.4 
percent, which equals EUR 11.89 million.
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46.8%

Table 23: Structure of FInancial investments

in EUR

31. 12. 2020 STRUCTURE 2020 31. 12. 2019 STRUCTURE 2019 INDEX

Shares and other variable 
yield securities

1,666,175 0.8% 1,457,139 0.8% 114.3

Debt and other fixed yield 
securities

183,740,820 93.2% 174,091,449 94.0% 105.5

Shares in investment 
funds

0 0.0% 0 0.0% /

Bank deposits 466,000 0.2% 1,039,937 0.6% 44.8

Financial derivatives 0 0.0% 0 0.0% /

Other financial 
investments

10,000 0.0% 10,000 0.0% 100.0

Reinsurers' investments 
from reinsurance 
contracts

11,210,682 5.7% 8,602,454 4.6% 130.3

TOTAL FINANCIAL 
INVESTMENTS 197,093,677 100% 185,200,978 100% 106.4

As at 31 December 2020, the investment structure 
divided by maturity consisted of:
•	 	long-term	financial	investments	amounting	to	

EUR 180,695,811;
•	 short-term	financial	investments	amounting	to	

EUR 5,187,184;
•	 retained	premiums	by	the	Cedants,	earned	

from reinsurance contracts amounting to 
EUR 11,210,682.

The largest part of investments is represented by 
debt securities, followed by financial investments 
from reinsurance contracts. Shares and other 
variable yield securities represent a  0.8 percent 
proportion, while the bank deposits and other 
financial investments represent the lowest share in 
the investment structure. 

The structure of individual types of investments 
has barely changed in comparison with 2019. The 
share of financial investments of Reinsurers from 
reinsurance contracts recorded the largest increase 
of 1.0 percentage points. An increase of 0.1 
percentage points was also recorded in the number 
of shares.  Conversely, the share of debt and other 

fixed yield securities fell by 0.8 percentage points 
and the share of bank deposits by 0.3 percentage 
points. The proportion of other financial 
investments and financial derivatives remained in 
2020 at the same level as in 2019. 

The book value return of the overall investment 
portfolio amounted to -0.5 percent in 2020, while 
in 2019 it amounted to 2.1 percent.

Investment income in 2020 amounted to EUR 
3,118,476, whereas the investment expenses 
amounted to EUR 4,091,833. The total return on 
investments was EUR -973,358. In the previous 
year it amounted to EUR 3,782,089.

The Company actively manages its assets by 
maintaining high credit quality and liquidity, 
adequate diversification and return across the 
portfolio and by adjusting the currency and 
interest rate structures of assets and liabilities. The 
main target of the investment policy is to optimize 
the risk-adjusted return on investment. In doing so, 
the Company shall duly comply with the law and 
internal rules.
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Table 24: Investment income, investment expenses and return on investments 

in EUR

2019

2020 0 1,000,000 2,000,000 3,000,000 4,000,000 5,000,000
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INVESTMENT INCOME
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7.6. Operating 
expenses

Gross operating costs increased by 3.9 percent in 
2020 compared to the previous year. In 2020, the 
highest increase of 64.4 percent was recorded in 
depreciation costs because the depreciation of the 
new IT system began in March 2020. Compared 

to the previous year, labour costs also increased by 
5.1 percent, while the costs of services provided 
by natural persons decreased by 31.1 percent 
and other operating expenses by 18.4 percent. 
Asset management costs for 2020 amounted to 
EUR 295,786 (in 2019: EUR 307,675) and are 
recognised in the Income Statement under item 
Expenses from financial assets and liabilities.
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Table 25: Breakdown of operating expenses

in EUR

YEAR 2020 YEAR 2019 INDEX

Depreciation of operating assets 418,616 254,562 164.4

Labour costs 3,030,497 2,882,425 105.1

Costs of services provided by individuals not engaged in 
business activity, including contributions

26,378 38,421 68.7

Other operating expenses 641,760 786,906 81.6

TOTAL OPERATING EXPENSES 4,117,251 3,962,314 103.9

Table 26: Indicators of the FInancial result

in EUR

YEAR 2020 YEAR 2019

Retention rate 58.8% 63.8%

Share of net operating expenses to gross premium 2.3% 2.5%

Loss ratio 63.7% 64.2%

Expense ratio 31.2% 33.0%

Combined ratio 94.9% 97.2%

 

7.7. Financial result 
indicators 

-973,358

3,782,089



The Soča Valley was the first destination in Slovenia to earn 
the title of the European Destination of Excellence due to its 
sustainable development in tourism. Heading out of town, the 
cycling route passes the magnificent old railroad bridge in 
Solkan, featuring the longest stone arch in the world. 

8
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8.1. Financial 
 assets

As at 31 December 2020, the financial assets, which 
represent 73.2 percent of the total assets, increased 
by 8.0 percent compared to 31 December 2019. 
The most substantial increase in absolute and 
relative terms was recorded in receivables, which 
represents 25.8 percent of the total assets structure. 
The other assets, which represent a share of 1.0 
percent, increased by 6.1 percent compared to 31 
December 2019.

8.2. Financial 
liabilities

The gross insurance technical provisions, which 
are as high as 56.3 percent, represent the largest 
amount of liabilities. As at 31 December 2020, 
the Company’s total equity amounted to EUR 
87,042,128 and it increased by 4.7 percent in 
comparison to 31 December 2019. A considerable 
part of the liabilities is represented by other liabilities 
amounting to EUR 63,676,845 or 18.3 percent of 
the total liabilities, and is primarily related to the 
liabilities arising from reinsurance operations. 

As at 31 December 2020, the Company’s balance sheet total amounted to EUR 348,003,012 

which shows an increase of 13.5 percent compared to 31 December 2019. 

Table 27: Structure of FInancial assets  

in EUR
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31. 12. 2019

31. 12. 2020

31. 12. 2019

31. 12. 2020

0 100,000,000 200,000,000 300,000,000

- 1,000,000

 INVESTMENTS (including technical provisions ceded to Reinsurers and financial investment)     RECEIVABLES      OTHER

235,751,863 67,459,203 3,406,006

254,548,241 89,842,174 3,612,597

Table 28: Structure of liabilities 

in EUR
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 EQUITY      GROSS TECHNICAL PROVISIONS      OTHER LIABILITIES       OTHER

87,042,128 195,766,154 1,517,88563,676,845

83,135,427 173,388,974 1,390,95748,701,713

8.3. Financial position 
 indicators 

Table 29: Financial position indicators

in EUR

YEAR 2020 YEAR 2019

Share of capital in total liabilities 25.0% 27.1%

Return on equity 3.3% 6.0%

Share of gross technical provisions in total liabilities 56.3% 56.5%

Share of financial assets in total assets 56.6% 60.4%

 

8. FINANCIAL POSITION
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9.1. SigniFIcant events 
after the end 
of accounting 
period 

On 5 March 2021, the Insurance Supervision 
Agency sent a notice to all insurance and reinsurance 
companies to suspend dividend payments, make no 
irrevocable commitments for dividend payments 
and refrain from redemption of treasury shares to 
reward the shareholders until 30 September 2021 
due to the uncertain situation regarding the spread 
of the Covid-19 pandemic and possible adverse 
effects on the overall economy and the insurance 
sector. 

There were no other significant events after the 
reporting date that could significantly affect the 
financial statements of the Company.

9.2. Transparency 
of FInancial 
relations 

According to the Act on transparency of financial 
relations and the separate accounts for various 
activities, the Company is listed within the public 
undertakings and public credit institutions.

In 2020, the Company received State and European 
funds:
•	 State	financial	support	related	to	the	measures	

adopted by the Republic of Slovenia to curb 
the Covid-19 epidemic, which amounted to 
EUR 1,785 and

•	 European	grants	for	the	education	of	workers	
(45+) within the program “Comprehensive 
support to the companies for active aging of 
the workforce”. In 2020, the Company drew 
EUR 9,980 in grants. 

In 2019, the Company did not receive any public 
funds listed in the aforementioned Act.

9. SIGNIFICANT EVENTS AFTER 
THE END OF THE ACCOUNTING 
PERIOD AND TRANSPARENCY OF 
FINANCIAL EVENTS

The route then follows the river flow and briefly enters Italy before turning back 
to Slovenia’s Goriška Brda region. The typical hilly landscape full of winding 
vineyards reminds of Tuscany. Goriška Brda is another Slovenia Green Gold 
destination which is actively developing its sustainable tourism.

9
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 Sečovlje saltworks ZVKDS Archives, Piran Regional Unit

The financial statements of Triglav Re, d.d. are 
drawn up pursuant to the International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the 
European Union and the explanatory notes 
adopted by the International Financial Reporting 
Interpretations Committee (IFRIC) which are 
also adopted by the European Union. The financial 
statements are prepared in line with the provisions 
of the Companies Act.

At the balance sheet date, taking into account 
the standards-approving process in the European 
Union, there is no difference in the Company’s 
accounting policy between the IFRS applied by 
the Company and IFRS adopted by the European 
Union.

The accounting policy used in the preparation of 
the Company’s financial statements is the same 

as in the preparation of the financial statements 
for the year ending 31 December 2019. The 
only exceptions are newly adopted or amended 
standards and interpretations that are effective for 
the annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 
2020. All the accounting policies and explanatory 
notes of Triglav Re, d.d. are set out in the Annual 
Report 2020, Chapter 15.

The full Annual Report of Triglav Re, d.d. for 
2020 accompanied by the Independent Auditor’s 
Report is available on the Company’s website 
www.triglavre.si/arhiv-sporocil-zajavnost in Slovene.

The Summary of the Annual Report for 2020 
contains selected information from the Annual 
Report of Triglav Re d.d.

10. FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND 
EXPLANATORY NOTES

Short ascents and descents lead us to the Italian town of Gorizia. As it returns to the Slovenian side, the 
route crosses the Vipava river, slowly entering the magical world of Karst. An ascent up a gravel road leads 
to	Kostanjevica	na	Krasu,	a	distinctive	karst	village,	and	then	to	the	tiny	hilltop	village	of	Štanjel,	one	of	
the oldest settlements in the region, known for its bell tower and the beautiful Ferrari Garden. The road 
passes the famous Lipica Stud Farm. In nearby Divača, we can visit a UNESCO site: the Škocjan caves.

10
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10.1. Statement of FInancial position 

 

in EUR

31 December 2020 31 December 2019

ASSETS 348,003,012 306,617,072

Intangible assets 1,675,189 1,687,893

Property, plant & equipment 216,093 199,161

Right of use assets 544,738 728,602

Financial investments in Group's companies 0 4,919,333

Financial investments in other companies 197,093,677 180,281,645

- loans and deposits 11,686,682 9,652,391

- available for sale 185,406,995 170,629,255

Technical provisions ceded to Reinsurers 57,454,564 50,550,885

Receivables 89,842,174 67,459,203

- receivables from reinsurance and co-insurance operations 89,608,469 67,422,325

- current tax receivables 188,640 0

- other receivables 45,065 36,878

Other assets 78,663 76,747

Cash and cash equivalents 1,097,914 713,603

Off balance sheet items 466,000 653,000

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 348,003,012 306,617,072

Equity 87,042,128 83,135,427

- share capital 4,950,000 4,950,000

- share premium 1,146,704 1,146,704

- reserves from profit 1,139,723 1,139,723

- revaluation surplus 6,093,732 5,005,014

- retained earnings 70,893,986 65,989,197

- net profit for the year 2,817,983 4,904,789

Insurance technical provisions 195,766,154 173,388,974

- unearned premiums 35,348,647 27,485,360

- provisions for outstanding claims 158,173,790 143,819,521

- other insurance technical provisions 2,243,717 2,084,093

Other provisions 282,417 238,361

Deferred tax liabilities 1,066,273 814,230

Other financial liabilities 300,342 0

Operating liabilities 61,743,298 47,139,296

- liabilities from reinsurance and co-insurance operations 61,743,298 46,904,646

- current tax liabilities 0 234,650

Lease liabilities 566,932 748,187

Other liabilities 1,235,468 1,152,596

Off balance sheet items 466,000 653,000

The explanatory notes to the financial statements are part of the financial statements and must be read in conjunction 
with them. The above Statement of Financial Position is presented in accordance with the regulations of the Insurance 
Supervision Agency. The item showing off-balance sheet items is not part of the Statement of Financial position as 
required by the International Accounting standards.

10.2.  Income statement 
 

in EUR

YEAR 2020 YEAR 2019

NET PREMIUMS EARNED 99,100,630 99,175,459 

- gross reinsurance premiums written 180,967,469 157,582,324 

- premiums written ceded for retrocession -74,537,144 -57,075,402 

- change in unearned premiums -7,329,695 -1,331,463 

TOTAL INCOME FROM FINANCIAL ASSETS 3,118,476 4,773,302 

- income from financial assets in related companies 33,591 150,815 

- income from financial assets in other companies 3,084,885 4,622,487 

OTHER REINSURANCE INCOME 17,110,418 14,478,612 

- commission income 17,110,418 13,309,302 

- other reinsurance income 0 1,169,310 

OTHER INCOME 7,723 16,846 

NET CLAIMS INCURRED -62,963,571 -63,184,742 

- gross claims paid -76,015,279 -73,805,192 

- retrocessionaires' share of claims paid 21,035,890 17,136,780 

- change in provisions for outstanding claims -7,984,182 -6,516,331 

CHANGE IN OTHER INSURANCE TECHNICAL PROVISIONS -202,895 -469,376 

CHANGE IN LIABILITIES FROM FINANCIAL CONTRACTS 0 0 

EXPENSES FOR BONUSES AND REBATES 43,271 -143,554 

OPERATING EXPENSES -3,821,466 -3,654,639 

- insurance acquisition costs -1,527,682 -1,481,008 

- other operating expenses -2,293,784 -2,173,630 

EXPENSES FROM FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES -4,091,833 -991,213 

- Expenses from financial assests in related companies -319,406 -304,674 

- Expenses from financial assests in other companies -3,772,427 -686,539 

   - losses on disposal of investments -363,373 -13,217 

   - other financial expenses -3,409,054 -673,322 

OTHER REINSURANCE EXPENSES -44,217,190 -43,450,988 

- commission expenses -43,164,113 -42,210,848 

- other reinsurance expenses -1,053,077 -1,240,140 

OTHER EXPENSES -631,099 -544,368 

PROFIT BEFORE TAX 3,452,464 6,005,337 

TAX EXPENSES -634,481 -1,100,549 

NET PROFIT FOR THE PERIOD 2,817,983 4,904,789 

The explanatory notes to the financial statements are part of the financial statements and must be read in conjunction 
with them.
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10.3.  Statement of comprehensive income 

in EUR

YEAR 2020 YEAR 2019

Net profit for the year after tax 2,817,983 4,904,789 

Other comprehensive income after tax  1,088,718 1,458,760 

a) Items which will not be transferred to profit or loss in future 
periods 0 0 

b) Items which could be transferred to profit or loss in future 
periods 1,088,718 1,458,760 

Net gains/losses on revaluation of available-for-sale financial assets 1,344,096 1,800,938 

- gains/losses recognized in revaluation surplus 2,363,881 2,586,518 

- transfer of gains/losses from revaluation surplus to profit or loss -1,019,785 -785,580 

Tax on other comprehensive income -255,378 -342,178 

Comprehensive income for the year after tax 3,906,701 6,363,549 

The explanatory notes to the financial statements are part of the financial statements and must be read in conjunction 
with them.

in EUR

YEAR 2020 YEAR 2019

A. OPERATING CASH FLOW

a. Net profit for the period 2,817,983 4,904,789

b. Adjustments: 16,858,372 5,363,032

– depreciation and amortisation 418,616 254,562

– changes in fair value of investments 0 0

– other investment income and expenses 284,770 -4,469,237

– interest expenses and other expenses 41,937 14,674

– revaluation of investment properties and receivables 1,732 367

– changes in technical provisions 15,473,501 8,460,724

– corporate income tax excluding deferred taxes 637,816 1,101,942

c. Net income before changes in operating assets (a+b) 19,676,355 10,267,821

Changes in operating receivables -22,194,334 -11,182,986

Changes in other assets 0 0

Changes in liabilities 15,211,121 9,328,858

Paid corporate income tax -826,457 -867,292

d. Changes in net operating assets -7,809,670 -2,721,420

e. Net cash from/ (used in) operating activities (c+d) 11,866,685 7,546,402

B. CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

a. Cash inflows from investing activities 115,449,142 79,140,559

Cash inflows from interest from investing activities 3,735,776 3,778,578

Cash inflows from dividends received and profit sharing 91,678 105,795

Cash inflows from the disposal of intangible assets 0 0

Cash inflows from the disposal of property, plant and equipment 4,051 6,571

Cash inflows from the disposal of financial investments 111,617,637 75,249,615

– Cash inflows from the disposal of investments in subsidiaries and associates 4,654,000 0

– Other cash inflows from disposal of financial investments 106,963,637 75,249,615

b. Cash outflows from investing activities -126,755,343 -82,995,916

Cash outflows for the purchase of intangible assets -145,569 -380,042

Cash outflows for the purchase of property, plant and equipment -60,011 -160,287

Cash outflows for the purchase of financial investments -126,549,763 -82,455,587

– Cash outflows for the purchase of investments in subsidiaries and associates 0 0

– Other cash outflows to acquire financial investments -126,549,763 -82,455,587

c. Net cash from/ (used in) investing activities (a + b) -11,306,201 -3,855,358

C. CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

a. Cash inflows from financing activities 0 0

Cash inflows from paid-in capital 0 0

Cash inflows from long-term loans received and issued 0 0

Cash inflows from short-term loans received 0 0

b. Cash outflows from financing activities -176,173 -3,359,148

Cash outflows for paid interest -9,274 -11,760

Cash outflows for purchase of treasury shares 0 0

Cash outflows for capital repayment 0 0

Cash outflows for payments of long-term financial liabilities -166,899 -174,438

Cash outflows for payments of short-term financial liabilities 0 0

Cash outflows from dividends paid and profit sharing 0 -3,172,950

c. Net cash from/ (used in) financing activities (a + b) -176,173 -3,359,148

D. Closing balance of cash and cash equivalents 1,097,914 713,603

E1. Net cash flow for the period 384,311 331,896

E2. External acquisition 0 0

E3. Foreign exchange differences 0 0

F. Opening balance of cash and cash equivalents 713,603 381,707

The explanatory notes to the financial statements are part of the financial statements and must be read in conjunction with 
them.

10.4. Cash FLow statement 
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10.5. Statement of changes in equity 

in EUR

Share capital
Share 

premium

Reserves from profit

Fair value 
reserve

Net profit 
brought 
forward

 Net profit/
loss

TOTAL 
EQUITYLegal and 

statutory 
resereves

Credit 
risk 

reserves

Other 
reserves

Net profit/
loss for the 

year

As at 1 January 2019 4,950,000 1,146,704 519,762 0 619,961 3,546,254 64,629,361 4,532,787 79,944,828

Comprehensive income for the 
year after tax 1,458,760 4,904,789 6,363,549

a) Net Profit or Loss 4,904,789 4,904,789

b) Other comprehensive income 1,458,760 1,458,760

Dividend payment -3,172,950 -3,172,950

Transfer of net profit to retained 
net profit or loss 

4,532,787 -4,532,787 0

As at 31 December 2019 4,950,000 1,146,704 519,762 0 619,961 5,005,014 65,989,197 4,904,789 83,135,427

As at 1 January 2020 4,950,000 1,146,704 519,762 0 619,961 5,005,014 65,989,197 4,904,789 83,135,427

Comprehensive income for the 
year after tax 1,088,718 2,817,983 3,906,701

a) Net Profit or Loss 2,817,983 2,817,983

b) Other comprehensive income 1,088,718 1,088,718

Dividend payment 0

Transfer of net profit to retained 
net profit or loss 

4,904,789 -4,904,789 0

As at 31 December 2020 4,950,000 1,146,704 519,762 0 619,961 6,093,732 70,893,986 2,817,983 87,042,128

 
The explanatory notes to the financial statements are part of the financial statements and must be read in conjunction with them.

11

The route then overlooks the Gulf of Trieste, offering some spectacular views. A scenic ride along the 
Adriatic coast is characterized by rich Istrian vegetation and numerous small villages. Again the road 
briefly enters Italy before reaching the Slovenian village of Osp, then continues along the river Rižana 
while following the Parenzana railway track. The Bike Slovenia Green cycling tour ends in Koper, the 
capital of the Slovenian coast awarded with the Slovenia Green certificate.
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